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            ON HUMAN RIGHTS

-------------------------------x

SHERYL KATZMAN,                :

      Complainant,             :   Case No.

 Vs.                           :   REH-06711;
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       P R O C E E D I N G S
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Good morning,
everyone.  We are here for day two of our
hearing on -- and, of course, I've got lying
in front of me.  I do hear a little echo?
              MS. JAYANTY:  Yes.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  How about now?  Is
that better?
              MS. JAYANTY:  Still a little
bit.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Is it the TV
sound?  All right.  Can you turn it that way?
Is that better?  Away -- towards me maybe a
little more.
              SPEAKER:  No.  Just going to
manually turn it down.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  All right.  We'll
give it a second.  Better?  Okay.  Thank you.
       All right.  Good morning.  We're here
for a second day of hearing on human rights
commission number HR -- HRC and all right.
Let's start again.  REH 06711 OSO referral
number HR 2302.  Sheryl Katzman Versus Chair,
Board of Directors, Leisure World Community
Court.  I'll continue to refer to it just
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after having been first duly sworn, was
examined and testified as follows:
              JUDGE BYRNE:  And could you
spell your full name for the court reporter?
              MS. TROHAN:  Yes.  My first name
is Colette.  That's C-O-L-E-T-T-E.  Middle
name is Collier, C-O-L-L-I-E-R, and the last
name is Trohan, T-R-O-H-A-N.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Thank you.
              MR. WEBSTER:  Your Honor,
normally I stand during examination, but since
I'm directly adjacent to the witness, I'm not
going to stand over the top of her.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Perfect.  It's
fine.
              MS. TROHAN:  I appreciate that.
              DIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. WEBSTER:
       Q.     Well, Ms. Trohan, would you
please identify your current address?
       A.     My current address is 15301
Barningham Court, Silver Springs.  It's in
Leisure World.
       Q.     You are a Leisure World member?
       A.     Yes, I am.

6
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

generically as Leisure World, if that's okay
with everyone.
       When we concluded yesterday, we
finished with claimant's case.  I believe, Mr.
Webster, you wanted to make a motion for
judgment.
              MR. WEBSTER:  I did, but Your
Honor, we're just going to decide at the
moment and we'll just proceed with our case to
just take everything out on the table and
finish up today.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  Sounds
great.  All right.  So Mr. Webster, your first
witness.
              MR. WEBSTER:  Respondents, will
call Colette Trohan.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Good morning, Ms.
Trohan.
              MS. TROHAN:  Good morning.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  If you could raise
your right hand for me.
       Do you promise to tell the truth, the
whole truth, and nothing but the truth?
              MS. TROHAN:  I do.
              COLETTE COLLIER TROHAN,
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       Q.     How long have you lived within
the Leisure World community?
       A.     Yeah.  We purchased our house in
September of 2011.
       Q.     Can you tell me a little bit
about your educational background, please?
       A.     Yes.  I have a bachelor of music
education, a master of science in nonprofit
management, and I hold three professional
credentials.  One is the certified association
executive from the American Society of
Association executives.  Another is the
professional registered parliamentarian from
the National Association of Parliamentarians,
and the last one is the certified professional
parliamentarian teacher from the American
Institute of Parliamentarians.
       Q.     Your master's degree in
particular, how does that -- how do you use
that in your current activities?
       A.     Well, my current business and
activities is serving as a professional
parliamentarian is being a governance
consultant and writing opinions and bylaws,
revisions, and I do a lot of training, so the
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master's degree helps me relate.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection, Your
Honor.  With all due respect, are you
proffering this witness as an expert, or is
this just merely background on this?  This is
related to their presentation as a board
member or what is the specifics of their
background here and its relevance?
              MR. WEBSTER:  This is background
for the witness.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Okay, but they're
not an expert witness, correct, on governance
or --
              MR. WEBSTER:  I think they are
an expert, but we're not offering them in this
case as an expert, if that's her question.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Thank you.
       Q.     You can continue.
       A.     Thank you.  I work with a lot of
boards and staff, a lot of executive
directors.  So in my work, understanding the
management of the nonprofit helps me a lot,
especially in dealing with writing bylaws,
policies, things like that because I get it.
I know what they're doing.
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years.  One on being a chair, one on being a
board.  I train community boards and stuff.
That's -- those are usually individual
assignments or in conjunction with my
parliamentarian work where I will travel,
which also cut down during Covid and
everything went online, but traveling to
usually their annual meeting or their board
meeting, and then I -- from my desk, I do
consulting on bylaws, policies, work on
bylaws, revisions, and sometimes I'm asked to
offer an opinion on how to interpret
something.
       Q.     Great.  You're currently working
or have you retired?
       A.     I am not retired.
       Q.     All these activities that you
just discussed, those are things that you're
currently involved in?
       A.     Yes, I am.
       Q.     All right.  Are you currently a
board member at Leisure World?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     What is your position on the
board?
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       Q.     And just for reference, when did
you get your master's degree?
       A.     I completed it in 2018.  I
believe in lifelong learning.
       Q.     When your certifications that
you talked about, the three certifications,
can you tell me when you achieved those
professional certifications?
       A.     I received my CAE about four
years ago.  I have renewed it once.  I started
that after the masters.  I -- there are two
exams.  You have to take a prep exam before
the PRP.  So I finished that, I believe, in
1997, and then somewhere in that neighborhood,
I took the CP written exam, but I completed
the oral exam in 1998.
       Q.     And you spoke a little bit about
your profession, but tell me what do you
currently do professionally?
       A.     Well, my company is called A
Great Meeting, and I basically travel to do
training.  I train boards.  I train chairs.  I
have done a class for the National Rural
Electric Cooperative Association in their
education and training department for 23
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       A.     I'm the secretary of the board.
       Q.     How long have you held that
position?
       A.     I was elected in January 2022.
       Q.     And other than serving as
secretary on the board, have you also done
anything else in conjunction with the board?
       A.     Yes.  In January 2021, the then
chair of Bill Marks asked me if I would assist
him at the board meetings, and I did that for
about eight months, and then my representative
from my mutual and I agreed that he wanted me
to step in.  So I became a board member for
that four months, and then I was elected
secretary.
       Q.     What other positions, if any,
have you held with the Leisure World board?
       A.     Those are the only positions
I've held in the Leisure World board.
       Q.     All right.  Have you also been a
board member for your specific mutual?
       A.     Yes, I have.  I served one,
three year term and then I took off because I
was working on my masters.  I went back on the
board.  I believe this is my going to be my
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third year.  I'm the current vice president of
my mutual.
       Q.     Do you recall the date when you
first became a member of your mutual board?
       A.     Probably 2013 or '14.  2014.  It
was 2014 to 2017.
       Q.     And currently you're the vice
president of your mutual board?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     So we had a little conversation
earlier yesterday about sort of Leisure World
and its structure and the mutual and Judge
Burn asked that question.  Can you please give
a little understanding to the folks about how
Leisure World and the mutuals interact, what
the different structures are, all that sort of
on stuff?
       A.     Sure.  Well, Leisure World is
extraordinarily unique in the country.  It was
conceived back in the 1960s.  We are a private
610 acre gated community and the community is
made up of the trust that governs the
properties, like the clubhouses and all of
those, and then the members of the Leisure
World community corporation are the 29
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community.
       Q.     So, again, in terms of
responsibilities for maintenance or management
of physical structures or real property,
what's the distinction between a mutual and
Leisure World Community Corp.?
       A.     Leisure World Community Corp. is
a corporation made up of those mutuals.
Leisure World Community Corporation is not at
all responsible for the maintenance within the
mutuals, but it provides the infrastructure.
So the mutuals are completely self governed.
They have their own articles of incorporation.
They have their own boards, but there are
arrangements where Leisure World as a
management or Leisure World Management
Corporation.  I keep saying that.  It's really
Leisure World of Maryland Corporation is also
a managing agent, and some of the mutuals like
mine, contract with them to provide services
such as administrative assistance services and
those kinds of things.
       Q.     Okay.  So we've introduced a new
name, so let's try to identify the structure.
We've got Leisure World Community Corporation
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separate mutuals and I believe they got the
name mutual because the first four that were
constructed were cooperatives, and then they
started building condominiums, and this was
done in stages over probably about 20 or 30
years, then there's one homeowner's
association that is 85 homes in a fee simple
arrangement.  So rather than saying
condominiums, you know, cooperatives and so
on, the name mutual, I believe, just kind of
rose up, then Montgomery Mutual is the -- it
was a merger of the first four mutuals that is
-- now it's one cooperative, but it started
out as four.
       Q.     Do the mutuals each have their
own work directors?
       A.     Mutuals have their own articles
of incorporation.  They own and control the
boundaries of that mutual.  Each mutual has
its own boundaries.  They maintain -- we
maintain the streets that go through our
mutual.  We handle the landscaping and all of
that, and then we also support and pay into
the master, which would be the roads that are
the community roads and the upkeep of the
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at the top?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     We have Leisure World of
Maryland Corporation, and then we have
mutuals?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     Can you describe --
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I'm going to
interrupt really quickly.  I just got a text
from Nana, another person in our office,
saying that they're getting calls that the
volume is too low and they can't hear.  Is
anybody else getting that info from anyone?
              SPEAKER:  Even in the room,
there's just not volume.
              MS. TROHAN:  I'll use my
training voice.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Are you getting
those same messages?  Okay.  All right.  So
we'll speak up.  How about that?  All right.
Thank you.
BY MR. WEBSTER:
       Q.     Okay.  So the question was,
identify Leisure World Community Corporation,
Leisure World of Maryland Corporation and the
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mutuals and how they all work together.
       A.     And we have to remember that
this also developed over a long period of
time, over decades, but the Leisure World of
Maryland Corporation was created in 1981 with
the intention that that was going to be a
management entity.  It does not have a
function within the governance of Leisure
World, but there is an interconnection in that
the Leisure World Community Corporation board
of directors adopt the budget, but the
management of that budget is under Leisure
World of Maryland Corporation, and that's who
the employees work for.
       Q.     So as an example, if my plumbing
backs up and I'm a mutual resident of your
mutual, who can I call to come out and help me
with my plumbing?
       A.     You would call your mutual
assistant, the person who's the administrative
director because Leisure World itself has
nothing to do with that.  And if it's in your
unit and it's not in a property -- a multi
property, I happen to live in a patio home
that has sort of a standalone setup, 99
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in connection with your role as secretary,
have you had an opportunity to review
historical documents maintained by the corp --
by Leisure World Community Corporation?
       A.     Yes.
              (Exhibit 57 A7, Resolution,
marked for identification.)
       Q.     So let's take a quick look
through some of them.  I'm going to put the
binder in front of you.  Yes, thank you.  And
for the folks on the screen, we're going to
start with Exhibit 57 A7, so on the tabs 57
A7.
       A.     Now I see why people were having
trouble getting to this.
       Q.     Yeah.  VII and it should say
after it Bessel Resolution.
       A.     Okay.  Thank you.
       Q.     Yes.  Thank you.
       A.     Is it -- so that's 57A.
       Q.     That's eight.  Go back one.
       A.     Oh, thank you.
       Q.     There you go.
       A.     Thank you.  Sorry.
       Q.     Roman numerals.
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percent of the time, that's going to be my
problem.  I'm going to call the plumber I like
and get them out there to fix it, but Leisure
World has no responsibility for that at all.
       Q.     All right.  As secretary of
Leisure World Community Corporation, what do
you do specifically in connection with
meetings of the organization?
       A.     I help get them organized.  I
work with the chair, the vice chair and the
general manager to set up the agendas for the
meetings.  We have an executive committee that
meets about 11 days before the board meeting
and they decide whether to pass things on to
the board.  So I do those two sets of minutes.
I do the agendas.  During the meetings, I'm
assisting.  I'm putting the motions up on the
screen, and I've also run the election
software when we have our election.
       Q.     Specifically in connection with
minutes for meetings, what is your obligation
or what are your duties with respect to
minutes?
       A.     I write them.
       Q.     All right.  Let's talk about --
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       A.     It's been a while.
       Q.     Ms. Trohan, when you were
reviewing the historical records for Leisure
World, did you find this document?
       A.     Yes, I did.
       Q.     And in general, what is this?
       A.     This is a resolution that was
passed by the board of directors on their
meeting in May of 2011, and it is basically
the statement of the rules.
       Q.     That's fine.  You don't -- I
just need to identify these exhibits --
              MS. ELSTER:  Objection, Your
Honor.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Hold on one
second.  I think we're better on the sound, so
I just got that.
              SPEAKER:  I'm getting that, too.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Where it's better?
              SPEAKER:  Yes.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  Just wanted
to check in on that.  And the basis for your
objection.
              MS. ELSTER:  This witness hasn't
laid foundation about what the complaint was
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that resulted in this resolution.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  So why are you
offering the resolution at this point?
              MR. WEBSTER:  This was -- I
wasn't even getting into the subject matter of
the resolution.  I was just simply asking her
from her experience as secretary if she's
reviewed the historical documents of Leisure
World.  This was in the Leisure World
historical documents.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I think that's
enough foundation.  Thank you.
BY MR. WEBSTER:
       Q.     Okay.  Let's go to 57 A2,
please.  So go towards the beginning of the
binder.  Well, actually, it's more in the
middle and it should be called Altman/CCOC.
Thank you.  You got it.  And Ms. Trohan, same
questions when you were reviewing the
historical records for Leisure World Community
Corporation, did you also find these emails?
       A.     Yes, I did.
       Q.     Are you familiar with the CCOC?
       A.     Yes, I am.
       Q.     What's your understanding of the
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       A.     Yes, I did.
       Q.     What is this document?
       A.     This document is a set of
minutes from the Leisure World Community
Corporation board meeting.
       Q.     From when?
       A.     From June 24, 2014.
       Q.     Do you see under item number two
chairs remarks?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     What does it say there?  You
have to read it out loud.  Just read it to
yourself.  Thank you.
       A.     It's a reminder to the members,
anyone present.
       Q.     Fine.
       A.     That's it?  Okay.
       Q.     I haven't asked you a question
yet.  I just wanted you to take a look.
       A.     Sorry.
       Q.     Do you have an understanding or
-- what is your understanding of the rules
relating to attendance at Leisure World
Community Corporation meetings?
       A.     Attendance?
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CCOC?
       A.     The CCOC or the Commission on
Common Ownership Communities was created to
help resolve housing governance disputes.  It
basically cleared the court of the condominium
and homeowner's complaints and problems.  So
they have judicial authority, and they are
also engaged in training.  They've set up a
training program for boards.  So they really
work a lot with the community associations and
trying to improve things.
       Q.     Have you had CCOC training?
       A.     I have several times.
       Q.     Do you know who Peter Drymalski
was or is?
       A.     It's my understanding --
       Q.     You either know or you don't.
       A.     I don't.
       Q.     Totally fine.  Let's go ahead
and look at 5788, please.  VII.  It should say
6/24/14 meeting.
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     When you were reviewing the
historical records for Leisure World, did you
all so find this document?
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       Q.     Yes, ma'am.
       A.     It is meetings are open to
residence, owners and invited guests.
       Q.     Are they open to anybody outside
of the community?
       A.     No.
       Q.     Is the statement that -- it
appears here and the chairs are marked, is
that consistent with your understanding of how
meetings have been run since you have been on
the board?
       A.     Yes.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  We're talking
board of Leisure World.  Not mutual?
              MS. TROHAN:  Yes.
              MR. WEBSTER:  Yes, ma'am.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Thank you.
BY MR. WEBSTER:
              (Exhibit 57 A10, Maryland
Commission on civil rights decision, marked
for identification.)
       Q.     All right.  Let's take a look at
57 A10, please, which should be the Maryland
Commission on civil rights decision.  You got
it.  You can go to the top and, again, Ms.
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Trohan, when you were reviewing -- or how did
you come across this document?
       A.     I was just researching through
the records of the corporation to find
anything pertinent.
              (Exhibit 39 B, Leisure World
Community Corporation document, marked for
identification.)
       Q.     Now, I'm going to come back to
it.  Okay.  Let's do -- let's go to Exhibit 39
B, as in boy, which is very close to the
beginning of this notebook and we can start at
the top.  Thank you very much.  You've got the
right document.
       Miss Trohan, we already -- you already
mentioned what the CCOC was.  Are you familiar
with this document?
       A.     I am.
       Q.     Where is this document, like,
maintained or --
       A.     It's maintained on the website
for the CCOC.
       Q.     Currently?
       A.     As is my understanding.
       Q.     The last time you checked?
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committee meetings and board meetings.  The
board meetings are sent out a full week in
advance.  Once that agenda is prepared, it is
also posted on the resident Leisure World
website so that not only do the owners have
the opportunity to review the agenda, but they
can also review the materials the board is
getting.
       Q.     So if there are materials that
are going to be reviewed at the meeting, those
are -- those are provided with the agenda.  Is
that -- do I understand --
       A.     Yes.  It comes out in a PDF
packet.
       Q.     And that is how is that
distributed?
       A.     The agenda is distributed two
ways.  We are using a board portal software.
There's several of them out there that helps
the board organize its documents.  So I place
the agenda and the supporting documents in On
Board, which is the one we use.  It's also put
on the website.  There are also copies.  It's
emailed to the board members and there are
also paper copies made and put out on the
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       A.     Last time I checked.
       Q.     Have you reviewed this document
in connection with your duties as secretary
for Leisure World Community Corporation?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     Do you, in general, agree with
the guidance that it is providing in terms of
how you run a meeting?
       A.     Yes, in general.
       Q.     In terms of -- well, let's just
go ahead and look at the different --
different items.  If you go to the sixth or
last page of this document, I think it's the
sixth page.  It starts at the top, what should
I know about running effective meetings?  Do
you see that?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     The first item that they
identify in the letter A is distribute
important materials in advance.  You see that?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     How, if at all, do you comply or
do you follow that recommended practice?
       A.     We go over and above that.  We
send out the agendas for both executive
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administration desk so that anyone who wants a
paper copy and doesn't want to use their own
printer can just come in and pick one up.
       Q.     If I'm a resident, how can I get
access to those items?
       A.     You can go on the resident's
website portal, or you can go into the
administration building and pick one off the
pile.
       Q.     Okay.  So you're saying that
this stuff is available on the website.  Does
that mean anybody can access it?
       A.     No.  I said it's on the
resident's portal of the website.  That's very
tightly controlled.
       Q.     How?
       A.     When a person moves into Leisure
World, they register with security.  They have
to show what their address is.  They will get
access to a special tag to put on their car,
an RFID that will actually open the gate, and
they also have, you know, just the general
paperwork.  If they want to get onto the
resident's website, they have to be registered
first.  So they are not given a temporary
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password and access until they are proven to
be a resident or if they're a tenant of a
lease.
       Q.     If, for example, Judge Byrne
wanted to see this material and went to your
website, would she be able to get to it?
       A.     No.
       Q.     Let's look at the second item.
Prepare and distribute an agenda.  I think
you've already covered this, but is that an
action that you take in connection with your
duties as the secretary for Leisure World
Community Corporation?
       A.     Absolutely.
       Q.     The third item referenced by
CCOC is use rules of order.  How, if at all,
in your actions --
              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection.  Your
Honor, what's the relevance of this?
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I believe -- let
me hear it from you why you think it's
relevant.
              MR. WEBSTER:  So there's this --
the debate of why we're here today is why we
did what we did associated --

31
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

the CCOC or policies and regulations
established within Leisure World Community
itself.  This is all demonstrating why we did
what we did.  That's the core of this case.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Proceed that's --
I had a feeling that's why we were going
through the entire process.
              MS. SPALLUZZI:  So this is the
line of the policies that Leisure World
follows?
              MR. WEBSTER:  What the witness
is testifying to.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.
BY MR. WEBSTER:
       Q.     Did they use rules of order in
connection with meetings of Leisure World
Community Corporation?
       A.     Yes, we do.  Our bylaws
stipulate that when there's no other governing
authority and we're looking at procedural
rules, which is really what Robert's rules is,
that we use Robert's rules.
       Q.     And, in fact, what is the
published rules of order that you -- that you
follow at Leisure World Community Corp
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              MS. JAYANTY:  Your Honor, with
respect, when you say you did what you did,
can you just be more specific?  Because we're
talking about retaliation and yesterday you
said hostile environment and you also said
harassment.  So I think we want to be clear
about the language we're using, especially
legal operative terms.
              MR. WEBSTER:  Sure.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Thank you.
              MR. WEBSTER:  So the "we" that
I'm talking about is my client, Leisure World
Community Corporation, the Defendant and the
Respondents in this case.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Thank you.
              MR. WEBSTER:  This information
-- the question of why we are here today, that
we, all of us here today, is Ms. Katzman's
allegation that we have taken certain actions
against her, "we" Leisure World that are
retaliatory.  All of this information
demonstrates that all the actions we have
taken today, Leisure World, has taken today is
either in compliance with or specifically
follows rules and regulations established by
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meetings?
       A.     We use Robert's rules of order.
Newly revised.  The 12th edition was published
in 2020.
       Q.     All right.  The next recommended
practice from the CCOC is to write motions in
advance.  How, if at all, do you comply or
follow that recommended practice?
       A.     All of our motions are written
in advance.  They are part of the agenda
packet and that motion is then read by the
vice chair and placed on the floor.
       Q.     Who does the writing in advance?
       A.     I do mostly.  I assist
committees and other people that have things
they want to present.
       Q.     Letter EE is take minutes.  How
-- I think you've already covered this.  How,
if at all, do you comply with this recommended
practice from the CCOC?
       A.     I produce minutes of all
meetings, whether they're closed sessions,
whether it's the executive committee or the
Leisure World Community Corporation board.
       Q.     All right.  There's a lot of
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conversation about what a minute is.  Take a
moment and based on your experience, your
history, your knowledge of Robert's rules of
order, your role as secretary for Leisure
World Community Corporation, what is a meeting
minute?
       A.     The minutes are actually the
legal record of the decisions made at a
meeting.  So the agenda is the plan of which
decisions are going to be made.  The minutes
are the record of those decisions and how they
came out.  Robert's rules have said for many
times -- many years that an easy way to say it
is, it is what was done.  Not what was said.
       Q.     Do you follow that practice?
       A.     Absolutely.
       Q.     When you're talking to your
clients, what do you recommend to them in
terms of minute capture or minute reflection?
       A.     Well, when I'm training, that's
one of the longstanding urban myths and I've
done training for also executive assistants
and county clerks.  One of the changes in
Robert's rules, and I believe it was in 2020
or I'm sorry, 2000 in the 10th edition was
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the recordings, yes, they will give you the
discussion.  That's the subjective part.  That
may be capturing a sentence that somebody said
on a particular date, it may --
              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection, your
Honor.  With all due respect, they're
talking -- your Honor, this witness is talking
about the utility of minutes versus
recordings.  That goes back to the question of
whether or not this accommodation was
necessary.  I'm not sure how it fits into this
case right now, which is about retaliation.
It really doesn't go back to causation and
whether or not Leisure World discriminated
against her by -- or retaliated against her.
It seems that opposing counsel is trying to
relitigate the reasonable accommodation
decision that you've already made that Miss
Katzman requested recordings, not minutes
because she believed they were necessary to
her right to participate.  And, therefore,
this testimony right now is not relevant to
the question of retaliation.  It seems to be
going to a question that you've already
decided.
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that what they came there was that whatever
the chair states when the motion goes to a
vote is what the motion is.  There is no
editorializing.  There is no changing.  And
when I'm training, teaching executive
assistants, they love that because they can
just take what they had and that's what it is.
When I teach it, I say what goes in your ear
before you raise your hand is what you voted
on is what goes in the minutes.
       Q.     Okay.  Recordings is letter F.
Do you see that?
       A.     I do.
       Q.     In connection with minutes, do
you believe it is appropriate to record
meetings?
       A.     There is no need if you're doing
the job right.  I absolutely don't find any
use to recordings at all.  When I have been in
meetings where they were recorded, I'm
thinking of a particular condominium
association where someone was complaining
about something that happened, they went back
to the recording and there was so much noise,
it didn't matter.  They couldn't find it, but

36
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

              JUDGE BYRNE:  So Mr. Webster, do
you want to respond to that?
              MR. WEBSTER:  So yesterday Ms.
Katzman testified that she needs all these
details.  She needs all this information and
that as a result of us destroying historical
stuff that we had destroyed all kinds of
important information from the past when we
got rid of the recordings.  She put this on
the table.  Ms. Trohan is explaining why
recordings were not necessary and explaining
why that's not the purpose of them and why
it's not supposed to be done that way.  This
is directly responding to the testimony that
Miss Katzman gave yesterday.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  So this is
-- there's a clear distinction.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Yes.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Between what you
need to create a minute and what Miss Katzman
wants to capture, but in all fairness, Mr.
Dunn talked yesterday about that he observed
things being tape recorded.  Ms. Katzman
talked about recordings being completed by
Leisure World in the past.  So because it was
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opened up, I have no problem with -- and this
is, again, her observation, her opinion,
whether it has any bearing on the outcome or
not, remains to be seen.
              MS. JAYANTY:  I understand, your
Honor.  My concern is, as counsel for the
Respondent just stated, this goes to the
question of whether she needed those minutes
--
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Understood.
              MS. JAYANTY:  -- not recording,
and that question is not at the table.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Agreed.
              MS. JAYANTY:  It's already
clear, that she needs recording --
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Agreed.
              MS. JAYANTY:  -- for her
disability --
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Agreed.
              MS. JAYANTY:  -- to take notes.
That has nothing to do with whether or not the
minutes are an adequate substitute for the
accommodation.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Agreed.  Agreed
100 percent.  This is how Leisure World used
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everything about how Leisure World functions
and manages because I think that knowing that
will help me.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Okay, your Honor.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  So I gave
as much opportunity yesterday.  I'm going to
give the same opportunity for them to continue
today.
              MS. JAYANTY:  And I'm going to
continue to object that this testimony is not
relevant to the retaliation claim because it
has to do with Leisure World's -- it may have
to do with Leisure World's management
structure and how they run meetings, but it
doesn't go to the fact of whether or -- why
they did not.  What adverse effects they took
against Ms. Katzman, including their security
measures and criminalizing her for asking for
a reasonable accommodations.  So I'd like to
also hear about that.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Standing
objection.  Noted.  It's in the record.
Understood your position.
BY MR. WEBSTER:
       Q.     Thank you.  Okay.  Miss Katzman
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their recordings.  Her opinion as to whether
or not the recordings were necessary.
              MS. JAYANTY:  And how does that
go to retaliation is what I'd like to -- what
does that determination signify for
retaliation versus --
              JUDGE BYRNE:  For me?
              MS. JAYANTY:  Yes.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  What I would like
to hear is the process.  What they did.  How
they did it.  Why they did it, right?  So that
-- that is why I am allowing this testimony to
go through.  I'm not saying her opinion on
whether recordings are needed or not impacts
the decision that I've already made, right?
              MS. JAYANTY:  -- any of them as
being relevant to whether -- to the
retaliation claim.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I believe he's
laying the groundwork, and I'd like to hear
all of it.  I want to hear everything there is
about Leisure World.  The fact that you all
use Robert's rules, which I haven't heard
since I was in law school, is interesting to
me.  So I want to hear -- I want to know
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mentioned yesterday that getting rid of the
minutes was some destruction of all this
historical data -- I'm sorry.  The recordings.
Now I'm confused.  What's your response to
that?
       A.     We did that on advice of
Counsel.  There was a limited number of them
and those only happened because of Covid, the
universal problem.  We didn't start using Zoom
for our meetings until we couldn't meet.  What
I was saying before the objection was raised
is these discussions are merely the opinion of
one person at a particular point in time and
may or may not be complete or indicate why the
board made a decision they did.  They're
subjective.  That is what somebody said.  Not
what the board did.  The board only acts when
it takes a vote, and then the board acts as a
body.  So individual remarks to me are not
appropriate for the minutes because they are
subjective.
       Q.     What is the official record of a
meeting of Leisure World Community
Corporation?
       A.     It's the minutes of the meeting
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once they've been approved by the board.
       Q.     And do the minutes, as taken by
you at least and as you viewed them
historically, comply with that concept?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     And did that also comply with
the record commendations of the CCOC?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     And does it also comply with the
recommendations of Robert's Rules of Order?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     Anything in that action
discriminatory or retaliatory against Miss
Katzman?
       A.     It's best practice.  It was --
              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection, your
Honor.  That calls for a legal conclusion.
              MR. WEBSTER:  She answered the
question.  She said it's best practice.  It's
not discriminatory.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  Let's stop
the back and forth.  All right.  I'd
appreciate that.  I will take her decision
that it is best practice based on her being a
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              JUDGE BYRNE:  Understood.  Mr.
Webster, could you just please rephrase your
question to ask her about the practice?
BY MR. WEBSTER:
       Q.     Do you believe that in complying
with the best practices as announced by the
CCOC and Robert's Rules of Order, you were
engaging in any type of discriminatory or
retaliatory practice against any resident
within --
              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection again,
your Honor, again.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Again, you're
asking --
       Q.     Do you believe you complied with
best practices in handling minutes?
       A.     Yes, I did.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  All right.  That's
perfect.  Thank you.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection, your
Honor, leading.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  All right.  Mr.
Webster, could you please rephrase?
BY MR. WEBSTER:
       Q.     How do you believe, in
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member of the board and being a secretary.
It's her opinion.  She's not an expert.  I'm
not giving it that weight.  She believes it's
best practice.
              MS. JAYANTY:  It's an opinion on
a legal question.  He asked, was this
discrimination or retaliation?  That was the
-- could you read back the question with all
respect Mr. Webster?
       Q.     The question was, do you believe
complying with these practices created a
discriminatory or retaliatory action against
Miss Katzman?
              JUDGE BYRNE:  That's asking for
a legal conclusion.
              MS. JAYANTY:  -- conclusion.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  So essentially --
we'll leave it as best practice.  We'll leave
it as best practice.  Okay?
              MS. JAYANTY:  I would ask the
Court to strike that question in full because
it asked for -- it requested a legal
conclusion, and the best practices response
was based in response to a legal question that
should not be asked of the witness.
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connection with your handling of minutes, that
you complied with the best practices
recommended by the CCOC and by Robert's Rules
of Order?
       A.     We conform to the form as is
written in Robert's Rules of Order with regard
to what is put into the minutes.  We conformed
with this -- the statement on this paper that
is the CCOC and pretty much every other entity
that I have been associated with.
       Q.     Okay.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I think that's
sufficient.
       Q.     When you attend Leisure World
Community Corporation meetings, do you believe
or how do you believe, if at all, there's any
privacy expectation by you personally?
       A.     Well, it starts with the fact
that you can't even get into the community
unless you go through a gate.  So we have a
wonderful sense of security within the entire
community.  In fact, when I purchased our unit
in 2011, it had been built in 1977.  We were
the second owner.  There wasn't even a dead
bolt on the door.  So we feel with our own
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security force and so on that we have that
privacy.  If you want to go to a Leisure World
Board of Director's meeting, we have two gates
for that, as well.  If you come into the
meeting in person --
              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection.
Relevance.
              MR. WEBSTER:  It goes to all of
this is why we did, what we did relative to
Ms. Katzman's request.  This doesn't have
anything to do with retaliation.  We followed
our procedures and our practices.  Our
meetings are closed.  That's why we denied her
recording request.  This goes right to whether
it was retaliatory.  That's their issue.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Your Honor, Miss
Katzman is not accused of being a burglar.
This is about whether or not the Wiretap Act
is applicable.  Whether or not they have a
privacy expectation.  What they're talking
about is ground security.  I'm not sure how
that in any way relates to a request for a
reasonable accommodation.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  All right.  Okay.
We're not -- we, again, are not discussing
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about the layers of security or what are the
boundaries established within the meetings
themselves?  Leisure World Community Corp.
meetings I'm talking about.
       A.     We now have hybrid meetings.  We
were sort of forced into that like everyone
else was.  So there are actually two ways to
get into the meeting.  You can attend in
person or you can attend online.  If you come
in in person, the administrative assistant,
Angela, will have a sign-in sheet.  If
somebody walks past her, she will go and talk
to them and ask them where they live and what
the mutual is.  If you are coming in online,
we have a waiting room set up and for the most
part, generally, the same people come so we
know their names.  If you come in to the
meeting by telephone and there is a phone
number, we have an announcement on the agenda
that if you are going to come in by phone
only, you need to try to notify Angela of what
the number is and who you are.  If you don't
do that, Angela will see that number.  She
will keep you in the waiting room.  She will
send you a text.  She will try to call you,
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reasonable accommodation.  Yesterday you had
Mr. Dunn talk about security, right?  So I'm
fine with the reiteration of security,
confidentiality of meetings, but I think the
term reasonable expectation tends to jump ship
and go back to whether or not there's a
disability.  So I'm fine with you talking
about the security, the process, how to get in
and out of meetings, all of that.  That was
opened up yesterday with Mr. Dun.  I'm fine
with that, but her perception of expectation
of privacy, I don't think it has anything
necessarily to do with retaliation.
              MR. WEBSTER:  I think it does,
but I understand what your Honor is saying and
we'll just move on.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  Thank you.
BY MR. WEBSTER:
       Q.     So let's just talk about process
because that's really where I was going with
this, anyway.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.
       Q.     One process is at the border of
the property, right?  There's a security gate.
You've already talked about that.  Talk now
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but unless you are identified, you will not
come into the meeting and the meeting
information and link is on the private
resident's website portal.
       Q.     If someone or what happens when
someone cannot verify their credentials as a
resident of Leisure World in terms of their
attendance at the meeting?
       A.     They're not allowed to be in the
meeting.
              (Exhibit 57 A11, set of minutes,
marked for identification.)
       Q.     Okay.  Let's go, please, to
Exhibit 57 A11 XI.  All right.  Miss Trohan,
what is this document?
       A.     This is a set of minutes of the
Leisure World Community Corporation Board of
Director's meeting from January 31, 2023.
       Q.     Okay.  Background and process as
requested by Judge Byrne.  What is the process
and the background of getting a resolution
proposed?  Let me take one step back.  What
months does Leisure World hold board meetings?
       A.     It holds a board meeting on the
last Tuesday of every month except for
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December.
       Q.     There's no meeting in December?
       A.     There's no meeting in December.
       Q.     Okay.  What is the process to
get something on the agenda for the meeting?
       A.     In general, it is first proposed
to the executive committee, who goes through
it and determines and votes whether to send it
to the board meeting.  The chair has some
discretion if something comes up, but by and
large, the motions have already gone through
the executive committee meeting, which is held
on the Friday, 10 days prior to the board
meeting.
       Q.     And let me ask you one other
question.  These minutes, who prepared these
minutes?
       A.     I did.
       Q.     Okay.  If you go to the second
page at the bottom, there you go.  Right
there.  You'll see resolution number 230105.
You entered that data?
       A.     I did.
       Q.     And this is the resolution that
does what?
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do in October and November of 2022 relating to
this pro -- what becomes this resolution in
2023?
       A.     They discussed it and voted to
pass it onto the board.
       Q.     Was there any other homework
done?
       A.     I don't understand your
question.
       Q.     For example, did the executive
committee consider other sources of income to
guide it on what it ultimately recommended to
the board?
       A.     The board knew what our Counsel
had recommended and, in fact, I think she was
at that meeting.
       Q.     Did the executive committee also
consider sources like the CCOC?
       A.     Oh, yes.
       Q.     What other sources did they
consider?
       A.     I think they went back to the
then current policy, as well, that said you
couldn't record meetings without everyone
giving permission.  I'm sure that they looked
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       A.     That clarifies and restricts
recording of meetings and also is the rule
that takes care of the excess recordings that
were kind of around.
       Q.     When did this concept of
clarifying or updating this aspect of our --
of Leisure World's policies first come up?
       A.     This aspect first came up in
October or November of 2022.  We had been
having some questions about other aspects of
the Leisure World governance.  We went out and
interviewed law firms in October I believe is
when we signed that contract.  In November, we
had a conversation and I asked the lawyer,
basically, what do you think about recording
meetings because I don't like it.
       Q.     Stop there.  Okay.  That's fine.
What internally did Leisure World do at that
time, November of 2022, on this particular
topic?
       A.     We were allowing recordings, I
believe -- not allowing it.  We were making
the Zoom recordings, which replaced the big
ole camera in the room.
       Q.     What did the executive committee
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at the Maryland Wiretap Act.
       Q.     Okay, but --
       A.     I'm saying that's what they did.
       Q.     Just what you know.  Okay.
That's okay.  What about your particular role
and specifically the CAE, if I got that
acronym correctly, position on recording?  Did
that come up in the context of this
consideration?
       A.     No.
       Q.     Okay.  Do you recall the vote on
this motion?
       A.     I do, but it's also a few pages
back and this was part of why we wanted to
confer with legal Counsel because, again, with
our very unusual -- and it's on page nine of
the minutes.
       Q.     Could you advance it?  Thank
you.
       A.     We have 29 mutuals.
       Q.     There you go.
       A.     There are 34 directors.  In part
that's because the first four mutuals kept
four directors as four separate.  We have two
mutuals that are large high rises with two
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large buildings of about 300 units each.  So
we have a rule that at some threshold, you can
get an extra director on the board.  So two
mutuals have two and Montgomery Mutual has
four.  So the raw vote of just the number of
directors that is on page nine shows that
there were 31 directors in favor and three
opposed, but the actual recorded vote is on
the next page.  And that's why we use a
spreadsheet, because it takes into account
that if, for example, if you look at
Montgomery Mutual, it says one vote yes.  If
there were three to one in Montgomery Mutual,
that will count as one vote, yes.  And the
other two, it's the same thing.  They may
cancel each other out.  So the actual vote in
the recording is 26 to three, and then it has
to be a majority of the number of units
represented.  So there were 5,256 represented
units in favor and 404 opposed.
       Q.     Thank you.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  We had trouble
with math yesterday.
              (Exhibit 39 A, agenda from the
January 31, 2023 meeting, marked for
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       Q.     When the deliberations were
discussed about this revision to the
clarification of the policy in October and
November of 2022, was Ms. Katzman included in
the considerations at all?
       A.     No more than any other resident
of the community?
       Q.     Was it considered that she had a
discrimination claim pending at all?
       A.     No, I didn't know about it and
it never came up.
       Q.     Did anybody else on the
executive committee mention it or have it
arise, or did it come up at all?
       A.     Absolutely not.
       Q.     Okay.  Let's talk about books
and records requests for a moment, please.
You're aware that Miss Katzman has made
requests for books and records of Leisure
World?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     What is your involvement in that
activity?
       A.     I assist with those books and
records requests, and we have -- I have
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identification.)
       Q.     All right.  One moment.  If you
would, all the way to 39 A, which is the very
-- I think it's the very first document.
Thank you.
              MR. WEBSTER:  Just by nature of
the way this came together, your Honor, it got
a little discombobulated.
       Q.     But Ms. Trohan, what is Exhibit
39 A?
       A.     Exhibit 39 A is the agenda from
the January 31, 2023 meeting.
       Q.     For the minutes that we just
reviewed?
       A.     Yes.
              MR. WEBSTER:  The Court's
indulgence.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Sure.
       Q.     In October and November of 2022,
were you aware that Ms. Katzman had filed a
discrimination action?
       A.     No, I wasn't.
       Q.     Do you know the date when the
OZAH matter commenced?
       A.     No.
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advised as to how we can go forward with them.
       Q.     In connection with that, have
you reviewed the law, Maryland law on books
and records requests?
       A.     Yes, I have.
       Q.     From the simplest -- tell me
when you began to be involved with books and
records requests.
       A.     When I became secretary was the
first that I was really aware of them, and
we've had some staff changes over time.  When
Crystal Castillo left, then I took over a lot
more of that responsibility until we got our
general counsel.
       Q.     In the past, are you familiar --
Ms. Katzman testified yesterday that in prior
times, books and records requests were almost
always sent to her by way of email and PDF
form.  Do you remember that testimony?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     Are you aware of that prior
practice?
       A.     It's my understanding that was a
Covid practice.
       Q.     Currently, what is the practice
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of Leisure World with respect to responding to
books and records requests?
       A.     With responding?
       Q.     Yes.
       A.     Well, first, we created a
special email address so that we could track
them and have them come in.  When a books
records request comes in, it is logged by the
administrative assistant, Angela.  We then
look at it to see whether it's an appropriate
request.  Is it something that we can provide
or not, and then we make that available.  And,
of course, the exceptions with minutes within
three years must be sent in 24 -- 21 days and
financials, which I have been told by our
legal counsel that that means standard
financial forms.  That means cash flow
statements or balance sheets.
       Q.     Are you done?  You don't need to
talk about what counsel tells you.
       A.     All right.  Sorry.
       Q.     The financial records -- so
you've highlighted minutes and financial
records.
       A.     Right.
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       Q.     Was Ms. Katzman one of those
residents?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     First of all, how, if at all,
was Leisure World's responses to those
requests any different from one versus the
other?
       A.     They were the same.
       Q.     Second, how was or to the extent
that this other person made a books and
records request, did Leisure World respond to
that books and records request?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     To the extent Ms. Katzman has
made books and records request, again,
confined to your time period and your
involvement, has Leisure World responded to
those books and records?
       A.     Yes, they have.
       Q.     What is the process?  What is
the response that is given.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I might have
missed the time period.  So when did --
              MS. TROHAN:  2022.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  2022.  Okay.  And
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       Q.     Why are you highlighting those
two types of documents?
       A.     Because they have the specific
requirement that they must be emailed on
request.  Nothing else does.
       Q.     Emailed or mailed or delivered?
       A.     Yes.  Yes.
       Q.     The other types of requests, how
is it that the responding agency or
association is allowed to make those documents
available to the requestor?
       A.     Well, these are our corporate
records, so we make them available for
inspection.  And that can end up meaning
coming in and looking at them, taking pictures
of them, or whatever the person wants when
they come in.
       Q.     In terms of requests for books
and records while you've been involved with
it, how many different residents have made
requests for books and records that you're
aware of?
       A.     Since I've been involved, two.
       Q.     Two different residents?
       A.     Yes.
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one other quick question.  The dedicated
email, when did that start for books and
records?
              MS. TROHAN:  I --
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Before you --
              MS. TROHAN:  About six months
ago.  No, we --
              JUDGE BYRNE:  It's a recent day.
              MS. TROHAN:  Yes, because -- I'm
not sure I can keep going go.  But it was
because we were getting multiple requests
coming in on single emails and things were
getting confusing.  And so we said, let's just
track every single request separately.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.
              MS. TROHAN:  So that if we get a
-- we need to make a response as to what
happened with it, we could keep track of it.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.
BY JUDGE BYRNE:
       Q.     Previously, would request for
documents come to just one person?
       A.     They came lots of different
ways.  They might come to one person.  They
might come to two people.  They might come to
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three people.  And that's when we decided that
we needed to make sure that we had a better
control of that.  We have a specific email.
That email goes to the administrative
assistant, the general Counsel and me, so that
we all have it.
       Q.     Once that email comes in, what's
the next step?
       A.     The next step is that the
administrative assistant logs that in and we
then begin establishing the general Counsel
helps us establish whether that is a record
that can be produced.
       Q.     What's your understanding of the
law in terms of providing --
              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection.  Calls
for a legal opinion.  She cannot speak to a
legal opinion.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  You could
rephrase, Mr. Webster.
              MR. WEBSTER:  I can.
BY MR. WEBSTER:
       Q.     You testified previously that
you were aware of the books and records law.
       A.     Yes.

63
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

something that needs to be kept private,
that's not a book or record that the resident
can ask for.  Another one is, as I've been
made to understand, general financial
documents that exist, that's a record.  That's
something we can provide.  If someone says, I
want to know how much money has been spent on
the administration building since construction
started, they're asking us to compile a
report, a special report and give it to them,
and that's not something that we can produce
as a record.
       Q.     Okay.  Once that step is done
and you've determined that the person has
requested something, what do you do next?
       A.     The request is responded to.
The administrative assistant, in some cases
where there's been a lot of requests, put
together all of those documents and said they
are available.  You may come to the office to
inspect them.  Make an appointment, please.
       Q.     Why is that what you do?  What's
the purpose of that?
       A.     These are our corporate records.
It's not appropriate to have them go outside
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       Q.     Do you or what is your
understanding of the law in terms of is any --
              MS. JAYANTY:  Your Honor, again,
it calls for a legal opinion, her
understanding of the law.
              MR. WEBSTER:  I can put it in
front of her and have her read it if we want
to.
              MS. JAYANTY:  To read the law?
              MR. WEBSTER:  The point I'm
trying to make is that there are exceptions.
Not everything requested is obligated to be
provided.  That's all I'm trying to say.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  You can have her
testify to her knowledge of what her process
is.  I'm fine with that.
BY MR. WEBSTER:
       Q.     Okay.  And so what you had just
testified to Miss Trohan, as I understood it,
was you and your general Counsel get together
to determine what the appropriate response is
to the request?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     And what does that involve?
       A.     If it's a personnel record or
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of the building.  We are perfectly happy to
let anyone look at them if they fall within
the purview, but otherwise, it's just -- it's
just not a good thing to do with corporate
records.
       Q.     You've answered it.
       A.     Thank you.
       Q.     With respect to charging for
these records, what is Leisure World's policy
with respect to charging for the records?
       A.     Leisure World has had a policy
for several years that the staff time involved
in some cases, records that need to be
retrieved or acquired, going into a abasement
to look at minutes or something like that,
that there's staff time involved and that that
should be compensated, and then there is time
in the preparation, but if someone comes in
and they need an hour or two, that takes a
staff person to be there with them and that's
a cost.
       Q.     To your knowledge and since the
time that you've been involved in this, what
requests by Ms. Katzman have not been
responded to by Leisure World?
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       A.     Not responded to at all?
       Q.     Yeah.
       A.     None.
       Q.     To your knowledge, since you
became involved, what requests by Ms. Katzman
have been denied by Leisure World?
       A.     There have been personnel
requests, but by and large, even when it was
requested that we create a report, we've
actually bent over backwards to comply and do
it.
       Q.     Are you aware as you sit here
right now of any unresponded to requests for
documents by Miss Katzman to Leisure World
Community Corporation?
       A.     No, I'm not.
       Q.     Did you -- with your role and
your involvement, did you ever see an instance
where Leisure World treated Ms. Katzman's
requests for books and records any differently
from any other resident's request?
       A.     No.
       Q.     When you attend meetings, have
you attended meetings for Leisure World,
either committee or board, where Ms. Katzman
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       Q.     What did you observe?
       A.     Just that she had her computer
open.
       Q.     Have you ever observed her
typing at meetings?
       A.     Oh, yes.
       Q.     The times when you saw a Chair,
either of a meeting or of a board, lose their
patience with Miss Katzman, was it any
different than the Chair losing their patience
with any other resident during those meetings?
       A.     No.
       Q.     Give a little bit of -- or what
can you tell us about that?
       A.     We have a very liberal open
forum policy where most groups would put
something at the end of the agenda.  We
literally allow residents to speak on each
motion before it's voted on.  So we have seen
cases where someone might go on too long.
They might be, as I said, combative.  They
might be accusatory.  In general when a Chair
has said, stop, stop, it's been when they've
overrun their time or have talked over someone
or have more or less demanded attention.
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was present?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     What interactions have you had
with Ms. Katzman?
       A.     Very few.  I have seen that
she's online.  If she's in a Zoom meeting.
       Q.     What do you observe of Miss
Katzman at these meetings?  How is her
behavior or any other actions?  What do you
observe?
       A.     She can sometimes be combative
and I've seen Chairs lose their patients.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection.
Speculation.
              MR. WEBSTER:  She said I've
seen.
              MS. JAYANTY:  She's seen Chairs
lose their patience?
              MR. WEBSTER:  That's what she
said.
BY MR. WEBSTER:
       Q.     Have you -- strike that.
       Have you observed Miss Katzman using a
computer at meetings?
       A.     Yes.
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       Q.     With respect to Miss Katzman in
particular, what were the circumstances, if
you can recall, when the Chair lost their
patience with Miss Katzman?  Was it
circumstances where she had run over time or
any of the other examples that you just gave?
       A.     It was basically the examples I
gave.  There was -- there were remarks that
were made.  Sometimes they were accusatory.
Sometimes they were asking for answers for
things and if the Chair said, okay, we'll take
that under advisement, there would be a
demand, no, you need to answer my question now
and then the Chair would say, that's it.
       Q.     Your own personal interactions
with Miss Katzman, anything that you believe
that you experienced that is of importance or
has anything to do with what we're here to do
today?
       A.     The one incident that is -- is
the one that for me stands out is, I was
elected January 6th of 2022 and exactly two
weeks later, we had our first executive
committee meeting.  So this was my first
meeting with that group.  We were discussing
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something I don't quite recall, but different
groups have their own cultures, and in the
nonprofit culture where I live, we often will
say, I'm going to ask the dumb question, which
basically means, I don't think everybody here
has all the information they need.
Everybody's afraid of their question being
dumb.  There are no dumb questions and it's
just a phrase.  Within probably 24 hours,
there was a post that, as I just found out
yesterday, went out to 500 people that was
very disparaging to me.  Said what kind of a
secretary do we have?  Why doesn't she know
how to ask smart questions?  And, boy, maybe
we need to have the old secretary that the
board had before she was elected come back,
and I didn't appreciate that.
       Q.     And who said that?
       A.     Sheryl Katzman.
       Q.     And how did she say it?
       A.     In her blog, in her email so
that it went out to all of the people.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection, your
Honor.  Relevance.  This has nothing to do
with recordings that -- of any Ms. Katzman
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              JUDGE BYRNE:  Right.
              MS. TROHAN:  The general manager
and staff, necessary staff, I would say it's
not unusual to have perhaps 40 or 50
residents.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  Right.
That was my -- I guess more of my question.
Tell me, other than the people that have to be
there, you have like 40 or 50, and then what's
the engagement like with on an average board
with the residents?
              MS. TROHAN:  The people --
sometimes it's a resident who's there as a
committee Chair on something that's going to
be coming up at the meeting.  Most of the time
they are there to observe.  They are allowed
to comment and that's it.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  And I know
you dealt with a lot of boards.  You've been
on your own mutual boards.  You've been on
this board.  The engagement with Leisure World
residents, is it -- do you get a lot of
engagement, or is it topical?  Is engagement
every single time, or is it more of a topical
if it's a hot button issue?
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that she --
              JUDGE BYRNE:  No, this has to do
with the retaliation as to whether or not
Leisure World retaliated against her or is it
a personality issue?  So I'm going to let it
in.
              MR. WEBSTER:  Court's
indulgence.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Sure.
              MR. WEBSTER:  Okay.  That's all
of our questions.  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr.
Trohan.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I do have one or
two questions for Ms. Trohan, if that's okay.
              MR. WEBSTER:  Yes.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  You talk about
attendance at board meetings and different
groups.  How many people attend different
board meetings either in person or online?
Like, as a group --
              MS. TROHAN:  As opposed to --
              JUDGE BYRNE:  For the normal
board meeting.
              MS. TROHAN:  In person,
generally there's 34 board members.
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              MS. TROHAN:  There are some
people who are at every meeting who speak at
every meeting.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.
              MS. TROHAN:  And there are some
people who just want to speak about a
particular topic.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  All right.
I was just curious about the engagement with
the group and the board.
              MS. TROHAN:  Yes.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  All right.  Thank
you.  There you go.  Cross-examination.
              MR. WEBSTER:  You can just put
it off to the side.
              MS. TROHAN:  Okay.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Before we begin,
Mr. Webster, how many witnesses do you have
today?
              MR. WEBSTER:  We have at least
one more, and then that might be all we do.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  All right.
I'm just thinking time.  That's all.  Thank
you.
              MR. WEBSTER:  We'll be done
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today without any worry, if that was your
concern.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  That was.  Thank
you.
              CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR. SHARDELOW:
       Q.     Good morning, Mr. Trohan.
       A.     Good morning.
       Q.     So I'd like to start with the
resolution that was passed on January 31,
2023, correct?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     And you said that you had
meetings to discuss the justifications for
this resolution in October and November of
2022, correct?
       A.     They were not official meetings.
These were like an agenda planning meeting.
Something to look at what we should do.  I was
conferring with Counsel.
       Q.     Correct, but that was made in
2022, correct?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     Okay.  And Miss Katzman
requested her reasonable accommodation before
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       Q.     Eight.
       A.     Okay.
       Q.     Could you read the last sentence
of the first paragraph?
       A.     Yes.  However, barring any legal
prohibition, recordings will be allowed if the
announcement is made by the person doing the
recording that the meeting is being recorded.
       Q.     And this was passed by the full
board, correct?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     Could we pull up Exhibit 57 A?
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Which 57 A?
              MR. SHARDELOW:  Oh, sorry.  It's
the CCOC email, and I'm not sure what the
title of it is.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  57 A2.  Thank you.
BY MR. SHARDELOW:
       Q.     Can you scroll down on this?  So
this was an email between Marian Altman and
the CCOC, correct?
       A.     Uh-huh.  Yes.  Sorry.
       Q.     Thank you.  And do you see the
paragraph below, the lower paragraph?
       A.     You're saying the last paragraph
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that, correct?
       A.     I don't know.
       Q.     You didn't hear her testimony
yesterday about this issue?
       A.     I'm supposed to only talk about
what I know.
       Q.     Were you not made aware of the
reasonable accommodation request made and the
complaint that she filed with the OHR after
you became a board member in 2022?
       A.     When I became a board member in
2022, I was aware that there might be
something on the periphery, but that complaint
sat until the end of 2022.  I became aware of
it when and I -- I apologize.  I don't know
all the acronyms, but whenever that
determination came out at the end of December
2022.
       Q.     So you are aware?
       A.     I am now, yes.  You were asking
about a timeframe that was different.  In
October and November, I was not aware.
       Q.     Could we pull up the Bessel
resolution that's Exhibit 57 A?
       A.     Thank you.  Eleven?
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on the page?
       Q.     Yes.
       A.     Yes.
       JUDGE BYRNE:  Do you need them to go
down a little?
              MR. SHARDELOW:  No.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Is that the right
one?
              MR. SHARDELOW:  Yes.
BY MR. SHARDELOW:
       Q.     And could you read the first
clause of that last sentence?
       A.     The first sentence, the quote
starting the board?
       Q.     Sorry.  So on the last
paragraph, could you read that first part of
the last sentence of that paragraph starting
with members.
       A.     Members should not attempt to
record a meeting without the permission of the
Board or Committee involved.
       Q.     And that's good.
       A.     Okay.
       Q.     Is this different from the 2011
resolution that we just read?
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              MR. WEBSTER:  I'll object to the
speculation and I don't know the opinion, but
if you can read the documents and we can
compare them ourselves.
              MR. SHARDELOW:  Your Honor, she
just read from the document of the resolution.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I think the words
are different.  So I think you've established
that this sentence is different from that
sentence.  Okay?
BY MR. SHARDELOW:
       Q.     Was this email ever codified
into a resolution passed by the full board?
       A.     Not that I'm aware of because
the resolution that was adopted was very close
to the same timeframe.  I think it said March
11th and this says March 17th.  The board set
the policy in 2011.
       Q.     So it's true that a requirement
of consent to record, as it says up here, was
not passed by full board resolution?
              MR. WEBSTER:  Object to the
interpretation.  The Bessel resolution says
what it says.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I think the Bessel
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reviewed those in preparation for her work on
the board, but the connection and the
difference, I don't think she testified to
knowing why it was different.  Is that where
you're going?  Am I missing something?
              MS. JAYANTY:  Your Honor, I
believe that she is appearing here as a
representative of the board, and thus, her
knowledge is not just limited to her own
personal knowledge.  We can ask her about
board activities and its history, as her
attorney should have prepped her if she is
supposed to be a point person to speak to the
board.  They can't have her speak to
activities that occurred prior to her being on
the board and then say that she doesn't have
the personal knowledge about those activities,
too.  They can't have both ways.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  To the extent that
you know, there a distinction between the --
why does the 2011 Bessel resolution say what
it says and then this say what it says?
              MR. WEBSTER:  If you know.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  To the extent -- I
mean, to the extent --
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resolution does speak to that.  It is
definitely different from that.  If she has
knowledge of anything that happened in 2011 or
why the wording is different, she can testify
to that.  If she doesn't, she can't.
              MS. ELSTER:  Your Honor, this
witness previously mentioned that she looked
at the resolution as part of her report of
being a member of the board and getting
familiar with all of the policies.  So this
witness is aware of that report and did
testify towards it earlier.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  She did testify to
the fact that she reviewed it.  That she was
aware of it.  So I think you've established
that point in that, yes, this is different
from what was passed by the board, but she has
no personal knowledge and I don't think she
testified to why or -- why that was passed in
2011.  So how can she speak to that?  Like,
that's what I'm struggling with and I don't
think she testified to why it was passed or
the basis behind it.  She testified to knowing
that this email existed and knowing that the
2011 Bessel resolution existed and that she
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              MS. JAYANTY:  As a board member,
have you -- do you or does the board have an
understanding of the difference between this
and the prior resolution?
              MR. WEBSTER:  So I'm going to
object.  Just I think one person crossing at a
time.  That's all we need.  Also, secondly,
just for clarity, Ms. Trohan is the secretary.
Her testimony was about the documents that
existed in the record for LWCC.  She did not
testify as to what happened in 2011.  She said
she wasn't even nominated to the board until
much later in time.  Didn't even move into --
              SPEAKERS:  (Crosstalk.)
              MR. WEBSTER:  -- the documents
say what they say.  I don't know --
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  Hold on.
              MR. WEBSTER:  I don't know where
else she can go with these questions, but they
can try.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I agree with the
one person crossing at a time.  I agree with
that.  So, Mr. Shardelow, if you'd like to ask
the question again.  I think you were -- you
were walking through -- you reviewed the 20 --

Transcript of Hearing - Day 2 20 (77 to 80)

Conducted on February 23, 2024

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM



81
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

correct me if I'm wrong.  I want to make sure
that I'm capturing what you're trying -- where
you're trying to go and so there was a 2011
resolution.  She testified to that.  We have
these emails.  I think your question was why
did the board not specifically, in its
resolution, talk about recording.  Is that --
is that accurate?
              MR. SHARDELOW:  About consent.
Yes.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Right.  So that
consent word is mentioned, right?  So ask your
question again, and let's -- let's see what
she knows to the extent that she knows.  I'm
sorry.  I kinda threw you under the bus a
little bit there.  Take your time.
BY MR. SHARDELOW:
       Q.     So the 20 -- this 2011 email
states a requirement of consent to record?
       A.     The 2011 email is that.  It's an
email.  The other was an action of the board.
I don't see them as anywhere near the same
document on the surface.
       Q.     Could you pull up Exhibit 57 A9,
please?  So this is a 2013 memo from Thomas

83
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

BY MR. SHARDELOW:
       Q.     No, no.  You're fine.  could you
read the last sentence of the first page?
       A.     Yes.  Absent an express
statutory or contractual right to record open
meetings, we conclude that meetings may not be
recorded without the permission of the board.
       Q.     Is a reasonable accommodation a
statutory right?
              MR. WEBSTER:  Object to the
legal conclusion.
BY MR. SHARDELOW:
       Q.     Do you know whether a reasonable
accommodation is a statutory right?
              MR. WEBSTER:  As a layperson
or --
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Yes.
       Q.     Yes.
       A.     Yes.
              MR. WEBSTER:  How's it relevant?
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I'm going to go
ahead.  As a layperson, do you know or do you
not know if a reasonable -- is a reasonable
accommodation and statutory provision?
              MS. TROHAN:  My expertise is in
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Shield who was an attorney representing
Leisure World; is that correct?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     And this memo is advising
Leisure World on whether individuals have the
right to record audio or video of board
meetings; is that correct?
              MR. WEBSTER:  So I'm going to
object.  This was not covered in direct and I
think his limited scope of cross is to
whatever we covered in direct to talk about
this and, again, it predates her.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  He's right.  Is
there a reason why you're referencing this
document based on her testimony?
              MR. SHARDELOW:  No, your Honor.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.
              MR. SHARDELOW:  Well, sorry,
your Honor.  This is related to their
recording policy, so it is relevant to their
direct examination.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  I'm going
to go ahead and allow it.
              MS. TROHAN:  Sorry.  I have to
get back to it.
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governments and not in things outside of that.
Like, accommodations.
BY MR. SHARDELOW:
       Q.     So did the board follow this
policy of Mr. Shields?
              MR. WEBSTER:  Object to the
form.  Can you put some time on it is what I'm
-- it's ambiguous.
       Q.     Okay.  When you were a part of
the board, did they follow this policy at all?
              MR. WEBSTER:  I'm going to
object.  Can you clarify which policy, please?
Are you talking about the Tom shield letter or
are you talking about --
BY MR. SHARDELOW:
       Q.     Yes, the Thomas Shield letter.
       A.     That's not a policy.  This is an
opinion by someone, but it does not govern the
board.  An email does not override actions of
the board that were taken in a meeting.  So
the only thing governing at that point in time
was the March 11th -- March 2011 policy that
the board adopted specifically saying that if
you wanted to record, it had to be -- I
believe that's the one that said everyone had
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to agree.
       Q.     So I just want to clarify.  The
only thing governing recordings in terms of
the official policy of the board was the one
in 2011, going up until 2023 when a new
resolution was passed?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     Could we pull up Exhibit 39 B?
That's the CCOC document.  So this is a CCOC
guidance document published in 2018, correct?
       A.     I don't see a date on it, but
I'll trust you.
       Q.     You said you reviewed this
document?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     And you said you agree with the
guidance from this document?
       A.     I said I was in general
agreement with it.  This is in --
       Q.     Is that a -- I'm sorry.
       A.     Generally the advice given here,
I agree with it.  Do I agree with every word?
I can't say that.  And I didn't review it as
anything other than an informational handout
by an agency to assist community corporation
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2023?
              MR. WEBSTER:  Object to the
requirement or the questions seeking legal
opinion communication.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  You can't ask her
what her lawyer told her.
BY MR. SHARDELOW:
       Q.     Did you seek out legal advice in
how this document connects in any way to
reasonable accommodations?
              MR. WEBSTER:  Hold on.  I'll
object to vague.  Put a timeframe on it and
then it might be okay.  At what point in time?
       Q.     When developing the 2023
resolution, did you consult this document in
relation to reasonable accommodation policies?
       A.     I was consulting with an expert
in governance.  This is an informational
handout, so it did not come into play because
that was not what we were doing.  This is
assisted, but I was talking to the lawyer who
was the expert.
              MS. ELSTER:  Court's indulgence,
your Honor.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Sure.
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boards in their meetings.
       Q.     So that's a yes?
       A.     No, it's not.
       Q.     Could we --
              JUDGE BYRNE:  It is -- go ahead.
Keep going.
       Q.     Could we scroll down to the last
page?  Could you scroll all the way down to
the bottom?  Thank you.  Could you read the
entire last paragraph of that document?
       A.     There's -- oh, I'm sorry.
       Q.     No.  You're fine.
              MR. WEBSTER:  Very last page.
       A.     Very last page I'm sorry.  I was
not on -- yes.  Of course.  The information
provided here should not be construed as legal
advice.  The specific facts of a given
situation or subsequent change in the law may
dictate a course of conduct other than as
described in here -- herein.  When in doubt
consult with legal Counsel.
       Q.     Did legal Counsel ever mention
this paragraph with you when you were trying
to figure out -- when you were trying to
figure out your recording policy in 2022,
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       Q.     Did you ask them how your
recording policy interacted with reasonable
accommodation law?
              MR. WEBSTER:  So I'm going to
object to the extent that it's -- I think he's
asking what she asked Counsel.  I think what
Counsel says back to her is certainly off
limits.  I think we're getting really close.
When we're talking about an interchange of
information back and forth between Counsel and
the client, I think even the questions that
the client is asking is a protected statement.
So I --
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I'm going to let
you go ahead and respond, even though -- sure.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Your Honor, I do
agree that this is close to the line of
privilege; however, we are asking what Ms.
Trohan, as a board of director did in terms of
Ms. Katzman's reasonable accommodation
request, and she already opened the door to
acknowledging that she relied on Counsel.  So
all we're asking is whether in seeking
Counsel, she took into consideration
disability law at federal and state level,
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since those are the purpose of this hearing
today, retaliation.  We're not asking for what
Counsel told her on that, but if whether or
not when she sought Counsel, she asked about
how the law interacted with reasonable
accommodations because that is the issue at
hand is whether or not this Wiretap Act could
fail or hold against a reasonable
accommodation request.  That has been their
justification.  I'm assuming that if you're
seeking legal Counsel, you would not only want
to know one state of the law, but how the law
interacts with other laws, which is the duty
of Counsel to advise upon.  So we just want to
be clear that when she sought Counsel, that
they -- that she -- what she was asking for
specifically as it relates to this particular
case, which is the relationship between the
Wiretap Act or recording policies and
reasonable accommodations.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I understand where
you're coming from, but it's really close.
It's really close to the line.  I think Miss
Trohan already testified that she didn't know
about Ms. Katzman's reasonable accommodation
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Counsel on the question of the recording.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  No, she did not.
              MS. JAYANTY:  She opened up the
door, your Honor.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  When she said she
discussed with Counsel, it doesn't mean that
she gets to tell us --
              MS. JAYANTY:  What --
              JUDGE BYRNE:  -- what she
discussed with Counsel.
              MS. JAYANTY:  She said she
directly went to Counsel around devising the
Wiretap Act law, correct?  Around their --
around their policy for 2023.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  We're going to
stop.  We're going to stop, all right?  I hear
exactly what both of you were saying.  I'm
going to limit your response to -- I just --
I'm really uncomfortable with opening advice
of Counsel.  I'm just trying to see if there's
a way to word it in such a way as to not
engage the back and forth between client and
attorney.  I understand your concern.  I
understand where you're coming from.  So, Mr.
Webster.
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issue until the end of December.  I think the
discussions on drafting the resolution
occurred in October and November.
              MS. JAYANTY:  But the board of
directors is not just Ms. Trohan.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Under --
              MS. JAYANTY:  She's not here to
testify on her.  She's here to testify on
whether or not the board had knowledge of
reasonable accommodation, and they all -- we
have testified that many members before Ms.
Trohan joined the board in 2022 already knew
of this reasonable accommodation.  They can't
use the Wiretap Act and as the reason for
denying her and then avoid a conversation
about reasonable accommodations at all.  If
they're -- if they're seeking Counsel, I
assume that they would seek Counsel on both
questions.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Mr. Webster,
anything you'd like to say?
              MR. WEBSTER:  It's all
attorney/client communication.  All of it.
              MS. JAYANTY:  She waived the
privilege when she testified that she went to
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              MR. WEBSTER:  If the question
is, did Miss Trohan talk with other members of
the board outside of Counsel about the impact
of housing discrimination loss, Fair Housing
Act or reasonable accommodations in the
context of developing this policy, I think
they can ask that question, but that's a
different question than asking about what she
talked about with Counsel.  So maybe that's
the distinction.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I agree.  I think
that's a -- I think that's walking the line a
little better.  I'm a little more comfortable
with that.  So the discussion of the question
is, did reasonable accommodation, did
disability law, did any of that come up during
the development of this resolution, as you
discussed it with other board members?
              MS. TROHAN:  It did not.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  All right.  I
think that's -- I think that's as close as
we're going to get.  All right.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Court's
indulgence.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Sure.  No problem.
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Everybody at home hearing us okay?  I'm just
checking in because I know I probably only
have my microphone on 50 percent of the time
that I've talked, so I apologize for that.
I'm just checking with Nana.  Okay.  It seems
everything's okay.
BY MR. SHARDELOW:
       Q.     Does the board now have a policy
regarding reasonable accommodations?
       A.     No.
       Q.     Are you aware prior to your time
on the board whether -- if they had any
accommodations of policy?
              MR. WEBSTER:  Reasonable
accommodations?
       Q.     Yes, reasonable accommodations.
       A.     It's my understanding that those
are handled on a case-by-case basis and there
isn't one overarching policy that --
              MS. JAYANTY:  Indulgence, your
Honor.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Sure.
BY MR. SHARDELOW:
       Q.     The 2023 recording resolution
destroyed all prior recordings, correct?
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       A.     However, barring any legal
prohibition, recordings will be allowed if the
announcement is made by the person doing the
recording that the meeting is being recorded.
              MR. WEBSTER:  That's all.  Thank
you.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  All right.  So I
think you're excused, Mr. Trohan.  Thank you
for time.
              MR. WEBSTER:  The Respondent
would -- want to go ahead and move to the next
witness?
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I think so.  If we
do lunch at one.  I think -- is that okay with
everybody?  Does anybody need a break?  Are we
good?  Can we just keep going?  I know I just
said, like, 60 things at once.
              MS. JAYANTY:  All right.
              MR. WEBSTER:  The Respondents
call Dr. Patricia Hemstead.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Are we going to
take a bathroom break?
              MR. WEBSTER:  Would you like to
take a break?
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       A.     Yes.
       Q.     That includes recordings in
2019?
       A.     I don't know exactly when the
recordings themselves were made.  These were
specifically the recordings that were made on
Zoom.  So I know they would have started when
Covid started and the board stopped meeting in
person.
              MR. SHARDELOW:  No further
questions, your Honor.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  Thank you.
Any rebuttal, Mr. Webster?
              MR. WEBSTER:  One question.
              REDIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. WEBSTER:
       Q.     If you would please look at
Exhibit 57 A7, the Bessel resolution.
       A.     Okay.  Yes.
       Q.     And I think -- I think maybe Mr.
Shardelow asked you this, but I -- and I
forgive me if I did.  Starting with the word
"however" in the first paragraph towards the
bottom of it, would you please read that
sentence?
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              JUDGE BYRNE:  I wouldn't mind.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Let's do it
because we might be here another hour.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I'll be very
quick.
              (Off the record.)
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Welcome back.  We
are back on the record.  You guys good?
Everybody in?  All right.  We are back on the
record.  And now we have, Mr. Webster, your
second witness.
              MR. WEBSTER:  Thank you, your
Honor.  The Respondent calls Dr. Patricia
Hemstead.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Miss Hemstead,
could you raise your right hand for me,
please?  Do you promise to tell the truth, the
whole truth, and nothing but the truth?
              DR. HEMSTEAD:  I do.
              PATRICIA GAIL HEMSTEAD,
after having been first duly sworn, was
examined and testified as follows:
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  And would
you mind spelling your first and last name for
our court reporter?
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              DR. HEMSTEAD:  Patricia,
P-A-T-R-I-C-I-A, Gail, G-A-I-L, Hemstead,
H-E-M-S-T-E-A-D.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Thank you.
       DIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. WEBSTER:
       Q.     You're doing great, keeping your
voice up.  I know people have said that we
need to try to be louder.  So just try to keep
that in mind when you're going through this.
Good morning.  Dr. Hemstead, where do you
live?
       A.     I live at 3100 North Leisure
World Boulevard, Apartment 1004 in Leisure
World.
       Q.     And how long have you lived in
Leisure World?
       A.     Eight-and-a-half years.
       Q.     Do you remember the year when
you moved in?
       A.     Yes.  September 2015.
       Q.     Okay.  A little bit about your
background, please.  What's your educational
background?
       A.     Well, I have a bachelor's degree
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       Q.     When you moved to Leisure World
in 2015, did you get involved in any of the
boards either for your mutual or for Leisure
World as a whole at that time?
       A.     Well, not right away, but in
October of 2016, there was a vacancy on the
board and I was encouraged to run and I was
elected.  So I've been a member of my mutual
board since 2016.
       Q.     So for clarification, the board
that you're referring to there was for your
mutual?
       A.     For my mutual, correct.
       Q.     And that was 2016?
       A.     Yeah, October.
       Q.     Did there come a time when you
became also elected to the Leisure World
Community Corporation board?
       A.     Yes.  That was in January 2020.
       Q.     Start with your mutual board.
What positions have you held within the mutual
board that you served on?
       A.     Well, I was just a director for
the first couple of years, and I think it was
in 2020 that I became -- 2019 that I became
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with a major in chemistry.  I have a doctoral
degree from the University of London with --
in microbial genetics and I have a master of
business administration with concentration in
marketing, finance and accounting.
       Q.     Are you retired?
       A.     I am.
       Q.     What did you do before you
retired for a vocation?
       A.     Well, I've actually had three
careers.  I started out as a university
professor, science person, and that was for
about 20 years and that's when I went back to
school to get my MBA.  And then after knocking
around for a couple of years doing odd things,
I ended up as executive director of an
association representing municipal governments
in one of the provinces of Canada.  Was a
turnaround situation.  I had great fun, and
then when I had completed that task, I moved
to California to be closer to my parents who
were aging and not doing well.  And I became a
personal financial adviser with Ameriprise
Financial, and I did that until the end of
2015 when I retired.
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president.  I'm sorry.  I'm not sure I
remember.
       Q.     That's all right.  That's all
right.  So you were president of the board for
your mutual?
       A.     Yes, and I still am.
       Q.     Still are.  Within the Leisure
World Community Corporation board, first of
all, let's start low.  Committees.  Have you
served on any committees for the Leisure World
Community Corporation boards?
       A.     Yeah, that's actually where I
started.  In terms of Leisure World, I was on
the advisory standing committee or the audit
standing committee, the insurance standing
committee, the physical properties department
standing committee, and I was on the community
planning committee and I became chair of that
somewhere around the early summer of 2019.
       Q.     All of those committee
opportunities, can you be -- let me ask this.
What are the requirements to be on a committee
in terms of also being on the Leisure World
Community Corporation board?
       A.     There are no restrictions until
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-- unless and until you are elected as an
officer, and then you have to resign.  So I
resigned all of those memberships when I
became Chair in July of 2022.
       Q.     Okay.  And so -- and that's
just, again, from a contact standpoint, you're
the president of your mutual and you're
serving on your mutual board, you're also
serving on a number of committees for the
Leisure World Community Corporation, and then
at some point you also joined the Leisure
World Community board, correct?
       A.     Yeah.  That was in January of
2020.  Yes.
       Q.     And when did you become Chair of
the Leisure World Community Corporation board?
       A.     July of 2022?
       Q.     And what's your current position
on the Leisure World Community Corporation
board?
       A.     I'm Chair.
       Q.     And what's your current position
on your mutual board?
       A.     I'm still president there.
       Q.     All right.  Good.  Have you
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secretary, the vice chair and the chair, and
in addition to that, there are four at large
members.  All of the executive committee are
board members and they are elected to those
positions by the board early every January.
       Q.     Let's talk for a minute about
powers of the Chair and your understanding of
what you can and cannot do, and we're going to
bring it to relevance.  I'm anticipating an
objection, but let's start generally with your
understanding of powers and actions of the
chair.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection.  Was
that a question.  Your Honor, object to form.
       Q.     Yes.  I was asking what is her
understanding of the powers and --
              JUDGE BYRNE:  That's the
question.
       Q.     And actions of the Chair.
       A.     Actually, the Chair doesn't have
very many powers at all.  Not much authority.
I have a say in how the agendas are organized
and what items and in what order and so on
they would be brought before the board.  I
have the ability with suitable notice to call
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served on any special committees for Leisure
World?
       A.     I served on the special
personnel committee, which was responsible for
leading the evaluation of the general manager
and ultimately led to a change in general
manager for the corporation.
       Q.     And time wise, can you --
roughly when that was?
       A.     Oh.
       Q.     Would it help if --
       A.     20 -- I think -- yeah.  Can you
help me?
       Q.     Yes.  Was it prior to becoming
elected Chair?
       A.     Oh, yes.  Absolutely.  So, yes.
So my work on the special committee, in fact,
the special committee was dissolved in
November of 2021 when we hired a new general
manager.
       Q.     In your role as Chair, do you
also serve on the executive committee for
Leisure World Community Corporation?
       A.     Yes.  The executive committee
consists of three officers.  The executive
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special meetings.  I can present as I -- I
have some judgment in terms of the slate of
members that are being proposed for the
various standing committees that comes to the
board for approval, but I have some leeway in
terms of who should be on those lists and --
       Q.     How about voting?  Anything --
       A.     Oh, yeah, and I can also
determine the method of voting.  We've had a
policy since Covid that if no more than six
members of the board are either in favor or
against a given motion, depending on which
way, you know, it's going to go, we can
determine that it is either approved or fails
by general consent.  If there are six or more
that are opposite to the majority, I have to
call a rollcall vote, but I have the option,
if it is a particularly significant issue, to
request a rollcall vote, even if the outcome
is clear before that, in order for clarity and
so that it's obvious.  It adds gravity to
particularly important motions.
       Q.     What actions in terms of
policies or resolutions or those sorts of
things can you take unilaterally as Chair?
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       A.     None.  I have no ability to set
policy.
       Q.     Who does that?
       A.     That's a board.  The board makes
all decisions.  I can present ideas and
suggestions to the board, you know, through
the sort of mechanisms that Ms. Ryan talked
about, but I can't set policy.
       Q.     Okay.  Let's talk about -- yeah.
Let's talk about Miss Katzman for a minute.
Are you familiar with Miss Katzman?
       A.     I know who she is.
       Q.     Have you had many interactions
with Miss Katzman?
       A.     On a personal level, no.
       Q.     In connection with board
meetings.
       A.     Yes, she's a regular attendee at
our board meetings and when I was a member of
committees, she was a regular attendant at
many of those meetings.
       Q.     In those contexts, what have
your interactions been like?  How would you
describe your interactions with Ms. Katzman?
       A.     Generally, okay.  We have
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       Q.     All right.  So let's show you
some exhibits.  So you have a binder in front
of you.  The first one that we're going to
show you -- I've forgotten it.  I didn't write
it down.  Could you take a look at 57 A3?  It
should say Frager email on it, and it's the
email -- that's okay.  Actually, it doesn't
have a date, does it?  The important part, it
doesn't matter when the date is.  The date, I
think, is somewhere else in the record and
we'll figure that out, but if you go to the
last page, that actually has the text of the
email.  Who was David Frager at the time this
email was issued?
       A.     He was Chair of the board at
that time.
       Q.     And did you succeed Mr. Frager
or was there a Chair in between you?
       A.     There were two chairs between
us.
       Q.     Okay.  There has been
discussions by both Mr. Dunn yesterday and
Miss Katzman that their interpretation of this
email was that it allowed them to record
meetings.  Do you remember that testimony?
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policies regarding when people who are not
members of the committee or the board may
speak and, you know, with a few exceptions,
you know, like everyone else, she follows the
rules, and she's not the only one that
occasionally doesn't, and I have to take
control.
       Q.     And you just made a motion with
your hand.  Was that in relation to a gavel?
       A.     Yes.  I like my gavel.  I don't
use it very often, but I like it.
       Q.     Can you give me an example of
some moments, not necessarily with Ms.
Katzman, where you have used your gavel?
       A.     Yeah.  In dealing with trying to
keep order at a board of 34 members, all of
whom have opinions and want to be heard, it's
difficult sometimes to prevent crosswalk.  And
there comes a time when two people arguing
across the table, it's not acceptable.  And
that's when I lay down the law.  I like to
give people as much opportunity to express
their opinions as possible, but there's limit.
              (Exhibit 57 A3, email, marked
for identification.)
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       A.     I do.
       Q.     Do you agree with their
interpretation of this email?
       A.     Personally, no.
       Q.     What do you think this email
says?
       A.     I think the definition of notes
excludes recording.
       Q.     I'm going to also ask you to now
take a look at Respondent's Exhibit 57 A10 or
X, which is the finding and opinion of the
Maryland Commission on civil rights, and what
I would like you to do is turn to page six of
eight.  And before you look at it, are you
aware that Miss Katzman or have you come to
learn that Miss Katzman filed a discrimination
action in 2017 with the Maryland Commission on
civil rights?
       A.     I have subsequently come to
learn that.
       Q.     How did you come to learn that?
Was it in the context of this litigation?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     If you take a look at the top of
page six of eight, you'll see a quote or a
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statement attributed to Mr. Frager.  Would you
please read that statement?
       A.     Mr. Frager indicated that
Respondent had no issue with Complainant using
her computer during meetings.  However, it is
a problem when she uses the computer to record
or take unauthorized pictures for her private
blog during meetings.
       Q.     Did you have or what experience
did you have with Miss Katzman using her
computer at Leisure World board meetings?
       A.     Up until the meetings moved to
Zoom, she doesn't attend board meetings since
Covid in person.  She's on Zoom, so I have no
evidence, but previous to that, she always
came in.  Set her computer up and sat behind
it.
       Q.     From your understanding as Chair
now and historically, was there a prohibition
against using a computer at Leisure World
Community Corp. board meetings to take notes?
       A.     Not that I was ever aware of.
       Q.     Was there a prohibition that
you're aware o of any attendee at a Leisure
World board meeting recording that meeting?

111
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

concerns as to how to implement it, and when
we were advised by Counsel that this might not
be a good idea, it seemed reasonable that it'd
be codified in a way that everyone would know
exactly where we stand and what our policy is.
       Q.     Before Counsel from 2020
forward, while you were a member of the board
or the Chair of the board, what did you
understand Leisure World's policy was
regarding recording and specifically consent
of the participants?
       A.     Well, I didn't give it a lot of
thought, to be honest, but one of the things
that I noticed is that once we developed
hybrid meetings, unless a person who was in
the meeting in person brought their own
computer and logged into Zoom, they would not
be aware that it was being recorded and that
-- that was concerning.
       Q.     Did you understand that consent
from the participants in the meeting was
needed in order to record the meeting under
the Leisure World existing policy?  Again,
from the time that you were a member of the
board?
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              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection, your
Honor.  Can you be more clear on the timeline?
              MR. WEBSTER:  Yes.
BY JUDGE BYRNE:
       Q.     During your tenure as a member
of the board or as Chair.  So 20 -- I think
that's 2020 forward.  Is that what it says?
       A.     Yes.  2020.  This email that's
referenced, I was not copied on it because I
was not Chair of the committee at the time
that it was issued and I did not become aware
of it until we were preparing for this event.
       Q.     Again, just looking from 2020
forward, when you have been on the Leisure
World Community board or as its chair, what
did you understand Leisure World Community
Corps' policy to have been with respect to
recording of board meetings?
       A.     Well, I always understood that
the policy was that you shouldn't.  There was
some confusion associated with that.  I know
as a Chair of a committee I -- well, I tried
to follow the policy, but it wasn't entirely
clear, and in conversations with others, I
learned that there were others who also had
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       A.     Yes.
       Q.     And I think what you were just
saying was with the hybrid situation, you had
some concerns about people who were personally
at the meeting as opposed to logging in by
Zoom?
       A.     Yeah, because it's a gray area,
but the Zoom feature, if you're being
recorded, you have to click on it to say, yes,
it's okay to record.  At least you understand
that you're being recorded.  And if you don't
agree, you get kicked off.  You can't
participate in the meeting, but if you're in
person, you don't have access to that unless
you have your own laptop and you're logged
into Zoom on your own personal laptop while in
the room, and most of the board members
present don't do that.
       Q.     How did that come about or
influence actions of Leisure World in October
of 2022?
       A.     Well, that was the point at
which we realized that we needed to do
something.  We needed to clarify what the
policy was and the board needed to approve it
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in clear, unambiguous terms.
       Q.     And let me ask one last question
about Mr. Frager's email just to button it up
because I forgot about it.
       When Mr. Frager wrote that email, what
is your understanding of his ability to
announce policy --
              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection.  Calls
for speculation.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I think she can
testify to what a Chair can and cannot do.  So
if she were in Mr. Frager's shoes as Chair,
what she could or could not do.  She can't
speak to what he did, right?  So as Chair, you
can answer the question.
              DR. HEMSTEAD:  As chair, I can
say the Chair has no ability to set policy
unilaterally.  That's a board action.
       Q.     Didn't even get to answer or ask
my own question.
       A.     I'm sorry.
       Q.     Totally fine.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  We're here for
you.
       Q.     Okay.  Going back to 2022, what
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       A.     About the middle of January
2023.
       Q.     Okay.  Let's go to 57 A11, which
is the January 31, 2023 meeting minutes.  Go
all up to the top.  Thank you very much.
We'll get there, but we'll start at the
beginning.  There we go.
       Dr. Hemstead, at this point in time,
are you Chair of the Leisure World Community
Corporation board?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     Were you present at this
meeting?
       A.     I was.
       Q.     Okay.  If you go to the second
page of the minutes at the bottom, you will
see resolution 230105.
       A.     I see it.
       Q.     Bottom of page two of the
document.  It should -- thank you.  Was this
the resolution that was -- well, first off,
what's the process of getting a resolution
into state where it can be voted upon or
presented to the board as a whole?  What
happens on the back end?
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did you in particular do with respect to
Leisure -- or advancing or exploring
alternatives for Leisure World recording
policy at that time?
       A.     I'm not sure I did anything
personally.  I encouraged those that were
working on it to explore all possible avenues
and to come up with an appropriately worded
resolution.  And I made sure, as it was being
developed, that we had the supporting
information that the board was going to need.
       Q.     Was legal Counsel one of the
components or contributors to guidance to
Leisure World on that policy?
       A.     Absolutely.
       Q.     During the discussions or the
planning of the resolution in 2022, was Miss
Katzman's discrimination claim mentioned?
Discussed?  Did it come up at all?
       A.     No.  I think we were completely
unaware of it until the end of December in
2022.
       Q.     When did you personally first
learn that Miss Katzman had a pending
discrimination action?
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       A.     Well, it -- it -- yeah.  It
depends on where it's coming from.  It could
be a resolution submitted by one of the
standing committees about approving the budget
or spending money to renovate some
infrastructure.  In this instance, it came
from the officers who felt that -- I felt that
this was an important endeavor.  That we
needed to look at this.  As a result, in
consultation with legal Counsel, we developed
the wording that was presented to the board.
       Q.     Does Leisure World have a board
meeting in December?
       A.     No, it does not.  January would
have been the first meeting after we really
became aware of how challenging our current
situation was.
       Q.     In order to have a resolution
addressed at a board meeting, what needs to
happen to it in terms of the agenda?
       A.     Well, typically we have an
executive committee meeting about 11 days
before the board meeting at which resolutions
and other actions that are -- are proposed to
go on the agenda are discussed and the
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executive committee weighs in in terms of is
this ready for prime time?  That's the way --
the terminology we tend to use.  Is it, you
know, appropriately worded?  Is there anything
missing, you know, is the rationale that that
sets out the reasoning behind it?  Is it, you
know, clear and unambiguous and is there
anything left out?  Sometimes resolutions are
sent back to the sponsoring committee to
clarify some of those issues or we do not make
the -- the executive committee does not
approve amendments, but may flag the
possibility that an amendment could be made
during the board meeting.
       Q.     Amendment to the proposed --
       A.     Resolution, correct.
       Q.     That happened sometime in the
middle of January 2020 --
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     -- is that right?  And then the
meeting itself occurs on January 31 of 2023?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     By January 31 of 2023, did you
personally know that Ms. Katzman's action was
pending before this body?
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even explore this possible policy
clarification?
       A.     Nothing.  None at all.  We
didn't even know about it at the time we began
exploration.
       Q.     What was the outcome of the
motion?
       A.     This was one of those situations
where I called for a rollcall vote, even
though it was obviously overwhelmingly --
considered overwhelmingly favorably.  And, in
fact, the end result was, as Colette
testified, I don't remember the exact numbers,
but, you know, it was -- it passed
overwhelmingly, but I did call a rollcall vote
because I felt this was an important issue.
       Q.     Okay.  Leisure World itself.  I
asked this question to Miss Trohan and I think
we're going to get the same kind of debate
that arises out of it.
       When you attend as chair of Leisure
World Community Corporation Board meetings, do
you believe you have a privacy right at that
meeting?
       A.     Yes.
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       A.     I did.
       Q.     What discussions, if any, did
you have within the board about going forward
with the resolution even though Miss Katzman
-- you knew Ms. Katzman's action was pending?
       A.     I think we all understood
clearly that it could be construed erroneously
in people's minds, I think, but it could be
construed as an act of retaliation.
       Q.     Did you think it was?
       A.     No.  Not at all.  We determined
that in spite of the risk that this could be
misconstrued, it was an important enough issue
that it needed to be brought forward as
quickly as possible.
       Q.     Stated differently, what impact
did Ms. Katzman's pending action have on your
decision to bring this resolution forward on
January 31, 2023?
       A.     It gave us pause to think about
it, but at the end of the day, it did not
affect that decision.
       Q.     And, again, the motivation for
the resolution, what impact did Ms. Katzman's
discrimination action have on your decision to
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       Q.     Why?
       A.     I define privacy or an
expectation of privacy or what constitutes a
prior --
              MR. SHARDELOW:  Objection, your
Honor.  Legal opinion.
       A.     No.  I'm saying what my
definition --
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Hold on.  Hold on,
Miss Hemstead.
              MR. WEBSTER:  You don't need to
be the judge, too.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I didn't get the
terminology issue because that phrase,
"expectation of privacy," goes to what's our
-- a legal question, you know.  So while you
may put expectation of privacy together as a
string of just two individual words, we put
expectation of privacy together as something
as -- as a legal theory, right?  Or as the
law, right?  So we use legal terminology that
has been handed down either in the law or from
the courts.  So it's hard to -- I know I'm
going on, but I just think it's better to
understand.  So I think, Mr. Shardelow, just
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to let you know, too, is that when you use
that phrase, and we have beat that phrase to
death here in another context, it links you to
that phrase.  So how you feel in your
neighborhood, how you feel in your community,
what you think about Leisure World and your
board members, is it private, is it, you know,
that's different, but so let's not link
expectation of privacy.  Okay?
              DR. HEMSTEAD:  Well, that --
BY MR. WEBSTER:
       Q.     So my question to you was, don't
worry about reasonable expectation, right?  My
question to you was, how is it that you
believe you have a privacy right or feeling at
Leisure World Community Corporation board
meetings?
       A.     Partly because the membership of
who can attend meetings is extremely well
defined and limited, and partly because we
take significant measures to ensure that no
one, who hasn't been invited, can attend a
board meeting from outside the community.
       Q.     You had previously used a phrase
with me about the gated community, and you
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       Q.     And let me ask this.  In the
context of your role as Chair, have you ever
taken up business at a Leisure World Community
Corporation meeting addressing or dealing with
the governance or actions of the entity
foundations of Leisure World?
       A.     No.
       Q.     And do you know if the
foundation of Leisure World, Inc. has ever
taken up, as a matter of business, the
operations or policies or running of Leisure
World's Community Corporation?
       A.     I can't answer that because I've
never attended any of their meetings.
       Q.     To the extent you know, does
Leisure -- foundation of Leisure World, Inc.
have any ownership in property within the
Leisure World Community property itself?
              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection.
Leading.
BY MR. WEBSTER:
       Q.     What, if any, property within
the Leisure World Community, to your
knowledge, does foundation of Leisure World,
Inc. own?
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used it as, this is our space.  What do you
mean by that?
       A.     When I go in through the gate,
I'm essentially going home.  That I consider
the whole community my home.
       Q.     Do you know what foundation of
Leisure World, Inc. is?
              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection.
Leading.
              MR. WEBSTER:  I'll rephrase.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Thank you.
       Q.     Dr. Hemstead, what is your
knowledge of foundation at Leisure World,
Inc.?
       A.     It's a registered charity and I
can't give you the 501C blah, blah, blah
designation.  It's completely separate from
the Leisure World board.  There may be members
of the Leisure World board that serve on the
board of the foundation, but they are not
there as official representatives of the
Leisure World board.  There's never -- to my
knowledge, there's never been any official
board members appointed to attend their
meetings.
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              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection.
Relevance.  Your Honor, it appears that
opposing Counsel is trying to make a
distinction between Leisure World Foundation
as opposed to Leisure World Corporation, but
no motion was ever made about this
distinction.  So we don't understand the
relevance.  We treat all Leisure World
activity, especially that took place involving
Leisure World board members, involving Leisure
World hired staff, involving Leisure World
resources and monies from residents as Leisure
World activities.  So, your Honor, I don't
think it's relevant whether or not Leisure
World Foundation, at this point in our
litigation, is part of Leisure World.  It
assumedly is.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  So I think the
reason why he's making this distinction is
during your direct of Ms. Katzman, there were
incidents against her that she talked about
that she believes were discriminatory against
her during Leisure World Foundation meetings.
They're trying to make a distinction, and I
think they're allowed to make a distinction
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between Leisure World activities versus
Leisure World Foundation.  Whether or not it
matters at the end of the day --
              MS. JAYANTY:  It's a legal
question.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Well, no, I don't
think it is a legal question.  It's to the
extent she knows any of her engagement with
Leisure World Foundation versus Leisure World
Board.  So there was cross-examination of Miss
Katzman yesterday and I think -- and also of
Mr. Dunn, as well, between the distinction
between Leisure World Foundation and Leisure
World of Maryland or Leisure World Community
Corporation.  So we've already had some
testimony on it.  So it is a bit duplicative,
but because it's already come in on both
sides, I have no problem with him asking her
these questions.
              MR. WEBSTER:  And your Honor is
right.  It's been covered, so I'll withdraw
the question.
BY MR. WEBSTER:
       Q.     Dr. Hemstead, let's talk for a
quick second about -- strike that.
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because I need to hear what -- don't answer
anything, Miss Hemstead.  I need to hear what
he's saying in order to match it up with the
objection.  I just -- I want to process.
Okay?  All right.
BY MR. WEBSTER:
       Q.     What, if any, actions do you
believe were taken during your time as Chair
of the board that were either -- that were
motivated by either an intention to
discriminate against Miss Katzman or to
retaliate against Ms. Katzman?
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  So I'm not
going to let you answer -- ask that question.
I'm going to go with the objection.  She's
already actually testified to that.  So you've
asked those questions.  You're asking her
essentially to make a conclusion based on the
facts that she's testified.  And so it's
jumping over a little bit too much.  Okay?  So
I know I'm a bit wordy.  I apologize.
              MR. WEBSTER:  You're fine.
Court's indulgence.  I think that's all we
have.  Thank you very much.  Thank you, Dr.
Hemstead.
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       Do you believe any of the actions taken
during your time as chair were the products of
or were motivated by some intention to either
discriminate or retain --
              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection, your
Honor.
       Q.     -- against Sheryl Katzman.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection, your
Honor.  Again, calls for a legal opinion.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  He's asking her
whether or not their actions amounted to --
their actions amount -- I know.  Their actions
amounted to a legal conclusion, retaliation or
discrimination.  Miss Hemstead cannot testify
to that.  Let me hear the question again.
       Q.     Yes.  During your time as Chair,
do you believe or did you do -- what actions,
if any, were taken by the board that you
believe were either motivated by an intention
to discriminate against Ms. Katzman --
              MS. JAYANTY:  Objection.
Leading.
              MR. WEBSTER:  You got to let me
finish the question.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Let him hear it
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              JUDGE BYRNE:  All right.  Thank
you.  So cross-examination.  Thank you.
              CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MS. ELSTER:
       Q.     Good afternoon, Dr. Hemstead.
       A.     Oh, good afternoon.
       Q.     It is the afternoon by ten
minutes.  I just want to clarify one thing.
You mentioned foundation meetings and how
board members or you personally haven't
attended any of the foundation meetings, but
it's not true that no board member has ever
attended a foundation meeting, correct?
              MR. WEBSTER:  Object to the
form.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I think she can
answer it.  I think what she's doing is she's
parroting back essentially what Ms. Hemstead
said just to get clarification.
              MR. WEBSTER:  Can she clarify
the board she's referring to because she's --
              MS. ELSTER:  Board of directors.
              MR. WEBSTER:  I think you mean
to say Leisure World board on foundations
board.  I think that's what you're trying to
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ask.
BY MS. ELSTER:
       Q.     Correct.  On her direct
examination, you discussed, although you're a
board of directors, you personally haven't
attended foundation of Leisure World board
meetings.  And I just wanted to clarify that
it is fair to say that other board members of
Leisure World have attended these foundation
meetings, correct?
       A.     Yes, but be aware, not as
official representatives of the Leisure World
board.  They were there as individuals in the
same way that I could belong to a church as an
individual and would not be there as a
representative of the Leisure World board.
       Q.     Yes.  I understand.  I was just
clarifying that board members do attend.
Whether they are in their official
representative or not, they're still there?
       A.     They can be.
       Q.     Moving on just to a few
questions regarding your role as chairwoman of
the board.  So you'd agree with me that
controlling voting is a unique power of the
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because on direct examination you did mention
that you can call for a rollcall vote.  So I
just wanted to clarify that.
       A.     Under certain circumstances,
yes.
       Q.     Moving on to Ms. Katzman.  You
mentioned she follows the rules during these
meetings.
       A.     She does.
       Q.     Similar to the way that other
residents at Leisure World do?
       A.     I'm sorry?
       Q.     Miss Katzman behaves in similar
manners as other residents that attend these
meetings?
       A.     In general, people are civil.
       Q.     Okay, and then if we can -- I'm
going to need to pull up exhibit -- this is --
it says Exhibit 2, the HR determination.  Yes.
Thank you.
       A.     Which --
              MR. WEBSTER:  I'll get it for
you.
              MS. ELSTER:  Sorry.
              MR. WEBSTER:  Is there a
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Chair, correct?
       A.     I don't control voting.  What I
do is determine the method of the vote.
       Q.     You would agree with me that the
method or deciding on the method of voting is
a responsibility, is power over the rest of
the board?
       A.     No.
       Q.     But no other board member has
that same responsibility, correct?
       A.     Not correct.  A board member may
request a rollcall vote when none was
indicated.
       Q.     But you're the last person to
give the formal say that you can call the
rollcall vote, correct?
       A.     I'm not the only one that can do
that.  Anyone on the board can do that.  And
be aware, too, that it would be required to
call a rollcall vote independent of anything
I might decide.  If there are more than -- if
there are six or more people on the other side
of the camp, a rollcall vote is mandated.  I
have no control over that.
       Q.     I just wanted to clarify,
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specific page?
              MS. ELSTER:  Yes.  Page two.
BY MS. ELSTER:
       Q.     Dr. Hemstead, on direct
examination, you testified that the board was
unaware of Ms. Katzman's complaint, correct?
              MR. WEBSTER:  Object to the
form.  I think that mischaracterizes.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Actually, say it
again because I missed it.
              MS. ELSTER:  On direct
examination, she testified that the board was
not aware of Ms. Katzman's complaint.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Correct.  So
that's your question?
              MS. ELSTER:  Yes.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  You're asking her
if that's what she testified to?
              MS. ELSTER:  Yes, your Honor.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I think she can
answer that.
              MR. WEBSTER:  I think that
mischaracterizes her testimony, but that's all
right.  Go ahead.  Clarify it or answer
however you feel that you need to.
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       A.     I can speak for myself.  I was
not aware of it and that is what I believe I
testified to.  I can't say for anyone else on
the board.
       Q.     The board acts as a collective
group, right?
       A.     For decisionmaking purposes,
yes.
       Q.     You're familiar with other board
members?
       A.     I know who they are.
       Q.     You know, Mr. Eisenhaur?
       A.     I do.
       Q.     You're familiar that he was or
is on the board?
       A.     Correct.
       Q.     And so if you direct your
attention to page two of this OHR
determination.
       A.     Uh-huh.
       Q.     So first it says Respondents --
if you see in the middle on the underline
section it says, Respondent's response to
complaint, and then if we can turn to page
three, please.
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              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  So I guess
to the extent you can answer the question.
              MS. ELSTER:  I can rephrase and
add some more foundation.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  That would be
great because I got lost a little bit there,
too.
BY MS. ELSTER:
       Q.     Okay.  So just going back to --
so the board -- you mentioned that the board
is collaborative and you know other residents
or other members of the board -- when you
became a member of the board, you were briefed
on board policies?
       A.     No.
       Q.     You never received any briefing
on board policies prior to your --
       A.     I received the same binder as
was mentioned in direct testimony by Mr. Dunn
yesterday.
       Q.     I just want to make sure I have
this correct.  So when you joined the board,
you weren't made aware of any other policies
prior to your time joining the board?
       A.     Not formally.
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       A.     I got to get my fingers to work.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  It's okay.
       Q.     I just want to -- sorry for
flipping back a page.  I just want to confirm
that on page three, that's Paul Eisenhaur, the
chairman of the board you were just speaking
to about --
       A.     He was chair at that time, I
believe.
       Q.     And then going back to page two
under that underline subheading.  Sorry for
the flipping back and forth.  You would agree
with me that, please accept this as
correspondence as my response to your letter
dated September 11, 2019 regarding this
complaint confirms that the board was aware of
Miss Katzman's complaint.
              MR. WEBSTER:  Object to the
form, but go ahead.  Hold on.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I believe the
objection that he's making is, you're
referencing the board.  So -- and when did you
say you were on the board?  You started with
the board in 2020?
              DR. HEMSTEAD:  Yes.
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       Q.     Okay.  On direct examination,
you -- strike that.  Sorry.
       Turning your attention to the recording
policy at Leisure World for these meetings,
you admit the policy was unclear at one point?
              MR. WEBSTER:  Object to the
form.  There is multiple policies.  There are
multiple policies?
              MS. ELSTER:  I specified the
recording policy and that was a direct quote
from her direct exam -- testimony.
              MR. WEBSTER:  2011?  2023?
Which one is she asking about?
              MS. ELSTER:  She mentioned that
the reason, even after the 2023 policy on her
testimony on direct, that the recording policy
at Leisure World was unclear.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Can you put what
you just said in a question, please.
BY MS. ELSTER:
       Q.     You admit that the 2023
recording policy was unclear?
       A.     No.  I never said that.
       Q.     I'll rephrase.  Just -- so you
were -- excuse me.
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              JUDGE BYRNE:  We can have
Brendon go back to it if you want.  So
Brendon, could you go back to when Miss
Hemstead or Dr. Hemstead testified to, like, I
think it was October or November, you know,
like, what her understanding of the recording
policy was?  I'm trying to think when was --
how could you find that?
              MR. WEBSTER:  For the assistance
of all, objection to the form.  Meaning, I
don't like some of the phrasing that's being
used, right?  Usually it's ambiguous or vague.
In this instance, the question asked about a
policy, but we have two policies on the table.
I think the answer to the question can be
asked just identifying this is the policy.  Do
you agree that the 2011 policy was ambiguous
or something like that?
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I don't think
that's what she's asking.
              MS. ELSTER:  No, that is not --
              JUDGE BYRNE:  That is --
              MS. ELSTER: -- the witness'
attention to the recording.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  That's -- I think
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              JUDGE BYRNE:  You think you can
go?  All right.  Thank you.
              MS. JAYANTY:  You don't want him
to reread it?  I think it'd be helpful to have
him read out.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  So Dr. Hemstead
testified over confusion with the recording
policy.  Can you find that language?
              THE REPORTER:  I'll see if it
can.  Do you have a time?
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Ten minutes maybe.
Ten, 15 minutes.  I think you're right.  At
10:10, we started cross-examination, so go
back 25 minutes and look for, like, the word
confusion and reporting policy together.
              THE REPORTER:  Was it during Mr.
Webster's questioning?
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Mr. Webster's
questioning directly to her.
              (TESTIMONY PLAYED BACK.)
    "A:  Well, it -- it -- yeah.  It depends
on where it's coming from.  It could be a
resolution submitted by one of the standing
committees about approving the budget or
spending money to renovate some
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that -- like that's the problem is --
              MS. JAYANTY:  That chunk of time
between the 2011 --
              JUDGE BYRNE:  And the 2023.  I
think that's what she's testifying to and
that's what Dr. Hemstead actually testified to
was her own personal confusion.  I think
that's what -- where the question is coming.
              MS. ELSTER:  Yes, your Honor.
Okay.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  So let's go again.
I know where you were going.
              MS. ELSTER:  Thank you.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  But I don't think
Dr. Hemstead and Mr. Webster know where you
are going.
              MR. WEBSTER:  I didn't know
where she was going.
              MS. ELSTER:  Thank you, your
Honor.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Brendon, do you
need something from me to try to find that or
--
              MS. ELSTER:  I think I could
proceed.
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infrastructure.  In this instance, it came
from the officers who felt that -- I felt that
this was an important endeavor.  That we
needed to look at this.  As a result, in
consultation with legal Counsel.  We developed
the wording that was presented to the board.
       Q.     Does Leisure World have a board
meeting in December?
       A.     No, it does not.  January would
have been the first meeting after we really
became aware of how challenging our current
situation was.
       Q.     In order to have a resolution
addressed at a board meeting, what needs to
happen to it in terms of the agenda?
       A.     Well, typically we have an
executive committee meeting about 11 days
before the board meeting --"
              (END OF PLAYBACK.)
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I think it was
after that.
              MS. ELSTER:  Yes.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Definitely after
that.
              (TESTIMONY PLAYED BACK.)
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"      Q.  -- is that right?  And then the
meeting itself occurs on January 31 of 2023?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     By January 31 of 2023, did you
personally know that Ms. Katzman's action was
pending before this body?
              (END OF PLAYBACK.)
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I think it was
before that.  So it was after --
              MS. ELSTER:  The first from a
little bit.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Yes, it was before
that.  Look for confusing.
              (TESTIMONY PLAYED BACK.)
       "Q. Again, just looking from 2020
forward, when you have been on the Leisure
World Community board or as its chair, what
did you understand Leisure World Community
Corps' policy to have been with respect to
recording of board meetings?
       A.     Well, I always understood that
the policy was that you shouldn't.  There was
some confusion associated with that.  I know
as a Chair of a committee I -- well, I tried
to follow the policy, but it wasn't entirely
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       Q.     You just -- based on the
recording we just heard, I might be incorrect,
but I believe that you said the board had
concerns with implementing this policy.  Is
that not correct?
       A.     The fact that there were
concerns was brought to the board.
       Q.     So that's a yes to my question?
       A.     I can't answer that question.
I'm not inside the board's heads.
       Q.     But you just did previously on
direct examination.
       A.     I don't believe that's what I
actually said.
       Q.     So let's shift your attention to
prior to that new 2023 policy.  You realize
something needed to be done to the recording
policy in 2022?
       A.     Yes.
       Q.     When did you begin exploring
that?
       A.     About the middle of October.
Late October.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Hold on one
second.  Do you want him to pull up Exhibit
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clear, and in conversations with others, I
learned that there were others who also had
concerns as to how to implement it."
              (END OF PLAYBACK.)
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Is that enough?
Okay.  I think that was it.
              MS. ELSTER:  Yes, your Honor.
Let me try to rephrase so it's a little more
clear.
BY MS. ELSTER:
       Q.     Before two before the 2023
policy was implemented, the recording policy
Leisure World Board had was unclear.
       A.     The implementation and the --
how you would handle it created some
confusion.  Not everybody was clear on exactly
how it should be implemented in a specific
environment at a specific meeting.
       Q.     And the board had concerns with
implementation, correct?
       A.     It was committee chairs that
were primarily concerned with how that should
be implemented.
       Q.     Not board members?
       A.     No.
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policy 2023?
              MS. ELSTER:  Sure.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  It's 57 A11.
              MS. ELSTER:  If you don't mind,
I'll just repeat my question before we pulled
up the exhibit.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Sure.
BY MS. ELSTER:
       Q.     When did you begin exploring
into the recording policy?
       A.     Somewhere around the mid to the
end of October.
       Q.     Of which year?
       A.     2022.
              MS. ELSTER:  Court's indulgence.
My apologies.
BY MS. ELSTER:
       Q.     So just circling back to my last
question.  You mentioned that the board began
exploring this recording policy in the fall of
2022; is that right?
       A.     No, that's not correct.  I said
that the executive, the officers, began
exploring that.  I may not have made that
clear.  The board did not come to deal with

Transcript of Hearing - Day 2 36 (141 to 144)

Conducted on February 23, 2024

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM



145
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

this until January 2023.
       Q.     Can you clarify that a little
bit about what the difference is in timing
between the executive committee looking into
that, as well as the board?
       A.     It wasn't the executive
committee.  It was the officers, in
conjunction with legal counsel, began looking
at this issue in the fall, October and into
November of 2022.  It was not brought to the
board's attention until the executive
committee meeting in the middle of January,
followed by the formal board meeting at the
end of January 2023.
       Q.     And all of this happened after
Miss Katzman requested a reasonable
accommodation, correct?
       A.     No.  We were not aware of the
issue until the end of December 2022, by which
time we had already formulated our policy.
       Q.     And this policy wasn't
implemented until a month later, correct?
       A.     Because the board doesn't meet
in December.  This was the first available
meeting following the discussion in the fall.
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              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  All right.
Well, there you go.  All right.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Your Honor?
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Yes.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Court's
indulgence?
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Absolutely.  Thank
you.
              MS. JAYANTY:  Thank you.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  So at the
outset, I gave the option of claimant rebuttal
and then Respondent rebuttal.  So you have the
option of calling a witness for rebuttal, and
they have an option, as well, to call a
witness for surrebuttal, based on if you
wanted to call a witness to rebut what you
have heard.  Do you want to do that, or are
you ready to proceed to closing arguments?
              MS. ELSTER:  And we're ready to
proceed with closing arguments, your Honor.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Okay.  Sounds
good.  So go ahead and proceed with closing.
              (CLOSING STATEMENT.)
              MS. PIPER:  A dark cloud of
humiliation and embarrassment has hung over
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       Q.     Thank you, Doctor.  I've had no
further questions.
       A.     Okay.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Thank you.  Any
rebuttal?
              MR. WEBSTER:  We don't have
anything further.  Thank you.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  All right.  Okay.
So we are -- what time are we, 12:30?
              MS. JAYANTY:  Yes.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Let's take an
hour.  I think we're comfortable with an hour
today.  If you guys let me know, I'll open up
the back for you so you can have the room so
you can be private.  If you all want to go
into the library, I think you set up shop in
there for lunch and we are now off the record.
We'll come back at lunch.
              (Off the record.)
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Good afternoon,
everybody.  We are back on the record.  Mr.
Webster, I believe you have a witness.
              MR. WEBSTER:  We are going to
rest with where we are.  So Respondent is done
with their case.
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Ms. Katzman from the moment she requested her
reasonable accommodations.  The testimony and
documents you've seen today and yesterday
showed that the root cause of that cloud was
Leisure World's aggressive unjustified
retaliation to her requests.  Requests that go
to the heart of democratic participation in
the community of Leisure World.
       Your Honor, to state a claim for
retaliation, Plaintiff must establish four
elements.  First, that she was engaged in
protected activity.  Second, that the
Respondents were aware of that activity.
Third that Respondents took adverse action
against Plaintiff.  And for that a causal
connection exists between the protected
activity and the adverse action.  We must
demonstrate this by preponderance of the
evidence.  Plaintiff has satisfied all four
elements in establishing this retaliation
claim.  First, Ms. Katzman engaged in
protected activity.  You heard from Ms.
Katzman about the various accommodation
requests she made over email and during
meetings.  You heard her discuss her March 10
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email request, the March 10, 2017 email
request that she sent to several board members
requesting a reasonable accommodation for the
use of her laptop while in attendance at
foundation meetings, a meeting in which Ms.
Katzman had a right to attend as a Leisure
World resident.
       Additionally, on April 12, 2017 at the
foundation meeting, Ms. Katzman reiterated her
request when asking Marian Altman, you
received my request for a reasonable
accommodation, did you not?  I need my
computer because I cannot write notes at
length.  On June 19 2019, Miss Katzman sent
more reasonable accommodation requests.  On
this particular day, June 19th, she sent a
reasonable accommodation request over email to
then Chair, Paul Eisenhauer.  A few days
later, she followed up after not receiving a
response, explaining that she is unable to
write copious notes as a result of her being
permanently disabled in an accident and
reiterated her request for reasonable
accommodation to record meetings.  On July 8,
it was a final attempt of by Ms. Katzman to
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meeting, Miss Katzman, again, brought up her
reasonable accommodation request with Marian
Altman at the foundation meeting and in the
June 19, 22, and July 8th emails to Paul
Eisenhauer, she sent those requests to Paul
Eisenhauer, who was Chair at the time.
Unfortunately, we were not able to hear from
Paul Eisenhaur today, who could have
potentially spoken to his previous statements
in the complaint that he did not know about
these.  So -- but those emails were sent and
making that reasonable accommodation request.
So Leisure World was made aware of these
requests.  And, therefore, Plaintiff has
satisfied the second retaliation element.
Third, Leisure World took adverse action
against Ms. Katzman.  You heard from Ms.
Katzman and Jack Dunn that Leisure World
called security on her and at least two
meetings, 2017 and the 2019 committee meeting.
You heard from Jack Dunn and Crystal Castillo
that Miss Katzman is very polite.  These are,
quotes, sat quietly in the back of the 2019
meeting.  An overall quote, she behaves
herself very well and doesn't say anything
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request a reasonable accommodation by email to
Paul Eisenhaur again.  Ms. Katzman never
received a response.  Defendants attempt to
confuse the Court by digging into details of
the specific accommodations that were
requested, as well as the necessity of
specific accommodations that Miss Katzman
requested.  However, these specifics are
immaterial to the elements of retaliation
claim.  Miss Katzman requested a reasonable
accommodation from the Leisure World board
members on multiple occasions.  These actions
in and of themselves are protected activities.
Plaintiff has, therefore, satisfied this first
retaliation element.  Second, Leisure World
was aware of Ms. Katzman's reasonable
accommodation request.  You heard that Ms.
Katzman sent her emails requesting a
reasonable accommodation to various board
members and, at one point, requested her
accommodation in front of one.  Again, for the
March 10, 2017 email, she sent that -- Miss
Katzman sent that to Marian Altman, then Chair
David Frager and Phil Marks.
       In the April 12, 2017 foundation
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until open forum, end quote, in all governance
meetings that she attends.  Additionally,
today you heard from both Dr. Hemstead and
Miss Trohan.  They testified and said that Ms.
Katzman acts like all other attendees.  So
these actions do not make Miss Katzman a
security threat that amount to the necessity
of having security called to try and forcibly
remove her.  Nevertheless, at the April 12,
2017 foundation meeting, security was called
by Marian Altman when Miss Katzman was trying
to assert her right to a reasonable
accommodation.  And Marian Altman was the same
board member that Ms. Katzman had emailed the
request to.  On September 18, 2019, Phil Marks
called security on Ms. Katzman to forcibly
remove her from that meeting, as well.  Again,
without any, you know, as Miss Katzman ask --
she acts in these meetings very politely and
for the 2019 meeting, specifically, was
sitting quietly in the back.
       You heard from Ms. Katzman and saw
exhibits that the Leisure World board and
management has created this retaliatory
atmosphere, as well.  In the 2017 meeting, Ms.
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Altman demanded that Ms. Katzman disclose her
disability in front of others meeting
attendees humiliating Ms. Katzman by calling
security in front of all the other attendees
and threatening her with criminal prosecution
with the Wiretap Act.  The 2023 policy itself,
this policy is stricter than what the Wiretap
Act demands, which is the Respondent's
justification for denying Ms. Katzman
reasonable accommodation and destruction of
all recordings is not a part of the Wiretap
Act.  Additionally, this policy was
implemented by the board around the same time
that this case was referred to this Court.
       Defendants attempt to minimize the
retaliatory actions of Leisure World by
separating these incidents from each other and
characterizing them as offhand comments and
isolated incidents when in reality the 2017
foundation meeting and the 2019 committee
meeting are just examples of the retaliatory
atmosphere that has been created and
perpetuated by the Leisure World leadership
against Ms. Katzman for simply trying to
request her accommodation.  Furthermore,
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before -- was only a month before the April
12, 2017 foundation meeting.  And the time bet
-- sorry.  The time between the July 29 -- the
series of several 2019 emails of reasonable
accommodation requests in -- two in June and
then the last on July 8th, those occurred two
months before the September 2019 budget and
finance meetings.  These are important because
these meetings only occur once a month.
Another fact indicating causation can be seen
in the language, demeanor and reaction of
these board members that we've heard about of
Ms. Katzman's laptop use in these meetings.
       As earlier -- as I talked about
earlier, Marian Altman refused to fairly
address Miss Katzman's request and demanded a
doctor's note and then called security.  In
the 2019 meeting, Phil Marks' language of
saying you cannot record indicates that causal
connection, as well.  Finally, neither of the
respondent's witnesses today could speak to
the knowledge of the board during that time
because they weren't on the board and those
who may have had knowledge of these protected
activities to further talk about or dismantle
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Defendants state that Leisure World Foundation
is a complete and separate entity from the
Leisure World community.  This distinction is
immaterial.  The foundation meetings take
place on Leisure World Property.  Board
members attend.  They use Leisure World's
staff and Leisure World Security was called to
the foundation meeting, and Miss Katzman has a
right to attend these meetings.  All of this
was described in the various testimony and
documents shown in Court today and yesterday.
The board members -- members that Ms. Katzman
made her reasonable accommodation to were
present and leading these meetings when
security was called.  This third element is
satisfied of the retaliation claim.  Fourth, a
causal connection between the accommodation
request and the security or accommodation
request and the retaliatory actions is
necessary.  The retaliatory events that
Leisure World has taken are closely and
causally related to the protected activities
of Ms. Katzman's reasonable accommodation
requests.  You heard from Ms. Katzman that the
March 10, 2017 request was only about a month
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this causation element were not here today to
testify.  Therefore, the fourth element has
also been proven today.
       I just want to make a few points, as
well, to conclude.  The testimony and
documents presented by the Respondent's
witnesses today failed to refute the clear
retaliation that Ms. Katzman has faced.  In
fact, Respondents don't even deny that these
retaliatory events occurred.  All of their
arguments are trying to find -- are
justifications for those actions.  Respondents
are arguing that their 2023 policy based on
the Wiretap Act, Trump's federal, state and
local law, but at the same time admitted that
disability and reasonable accommodation law
was not considered when making their 2023
recording policy.  What they were considering
was Ms. Katzman's protected activity.  The
CCOC guidance and Roberts Rules are not legal
authority and are silent on how this rule
interacts with reasonable accommodation
requests.  Additionally, testimony today by
Respondent's witnesses admitted that during
the time of the 2017 and 2019 meetings, two of
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the retaliatory events, that there was no
consensus or agreement on what the policy was
for recording.  They also explicitly said that
the policy was implemented differently, which
can give opportunity to weaponize this policy
in these retaliatory meetings.  Ms. Trohan --
I'm sorry.  One moment.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  That's okay.  Take
your time.
              MS. PIPER:  Because Respondents
were not able to show that they had any sort
of justification and that these retaliatory
acts did, in fact, happen, they cannot speak
-- they cannot speak to any element of the
test and Plaintiff today has met all four of
the retaliation requirements.  So thank you.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  Thank you.  Mr.
Webster?
              MR. WEBSTER:  Thank you, your
Honor.  Okay.  So let's circle back to where
we started from when we began this case.  So
it's a retaliation claim.  So we know that
much.  We know the four elements.  They are as
Plaintiff's Counsel has indicated.  We know
the applicable case law.  It's Roads and it's
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requested protected activity or the protected
activity and whatever retaliation occurs.  You
can't have retaliation before you've even
requested the item that you think you're
entitled to request.  She's not here saying
that what we did in 2017 created or was a
failure to give a reasonable accommodation.
That's not her cause of action.  Her cause of
action is that in 2019, she asked to be able
to record.  That was denied.  That is what
she's saying is her denied request or a
reasonable accommodation.  Those are her
testimonial words, as well.  Not just what's
in the documents, but that's also what's in
the documents.  We would submit that the 2017
information is not relevant to this analysis
and fails under the causal connection to prong
specifically, also fails under a variety of
other issues, but I'll just leave the 2017
information at that.
       So then we have her June and July 2019
submission.  Request of a reasonable
accommodation.  What we know is that those
went to Paul Eisenhauer.  What we don't know
or what there isn't any evidence of, is what
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Williams.  That's the universe of the law side
of things, and then we need to parse through
what we've heard over the past two days.
Remember, please also that the complaint of
alleged discrimination -- and this was also
verified by Ms. Katzman in her testimony, is
based upon her June 22 of 2019 request for
reasonable accommodation to record.  That's
the first time she ever asked to record.
That's what she says she's entitled to as a
result of her disability.  That's the
reasonable accommodation she's asking for.
Whatever happened in 2017, first of all, those
were requests for use of a computer.  It's not
what she's complaining about here today, but
whatever happened in 2017 involved foundations
of Leisure World board, which is a separate
entity.  If she felt that she had been
discriminated against by them, that would be a
separate cause of action against a separate
party.  It doesn't have any bearing on what
we're doing here.  It is also from a temporal
standpoint, if we want to look at the specific
elements associated with retaliation, there
has to be a causal connection between the
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happened.  The response is, according to Miss
Katzman, no response at all.  I would submit
that that can't also be retaliation.
Retaliation requires some sort of action in
response, right?  If you look at the cases in
Roads, the retaliation is that her rent gets
doubled.  That's the retaliation.  She makes a
complaint for housing discrimination, and then
her rent gets doubled.  In Williams, the
retaliation component is, she makes a claim
for discrimination, racial and housing, and
then she gets assessed fines under the
covenant applicable to that homeowner's
association, and she says that those
assessments that are occurring after she has
taken her action, that is what is retaliatory.
Retaliation, by definition, requires an action
and then some kind of a response to it.  We
don't have that in the June and July 2019
emails.  There's no response and she hasn't
even filed her claim yet.  Her claim doesn't
get filed until August 27 of 2019.  That's
when her claim gets filed.  From our
perspective, the timeline starts and should
start in August 27 of 2019 and then move
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forward.  That's her action.  That's when
things are looking at.  So what is retaliatory
after August 27 of 2019?  They submit two
things.  The first is the September 18, 2019
budget and finance meeting, and the second are
the changes that happen to the policy in
January of 2023.  So take them one at a time.
The September 18, 2019 budget and finance
meeting, what we know, and this goes to the
second element of the retaliation test.  What
we know is that this August 27, 2019 complaint
is transmitted to Paul Eisenhauer on October
1, 2019, that is Respondent's Exhibit 39 F,
the October 1, 2019 email exchange between him
and Mr. Alvarez where he says -- and this is
in evidence.  Hello, I have just received your
certified letter requesting a response
complaint and so on and so forth.  We don't
know that she's filed a claim of
discrimination until October 1 of 2019.  The
September 18, 2019 meeting happens in advance
of that.  It can't be retaliation.  It might
be -- and that's why we thought they were
making a hostile environment claim, but
they're not making a hostile environment
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says, the digital recorder.  She records.  She
doesn't tell people she's recording.  She
doesn't get consent to have it be recorded.
She just records, and then she takes those
snips of recording and posts them to the
website or her website.  The CCOC specifically
talks about that's why we don't want to
record.  That's Mr. Drymalski's emails in
2011.  That's also the guidance that they have
published on 2018.  Why is all of this
relevant?  All of this is relevant because
this case is all about the why.  That's why
we're here is why did Leisure World do what it
did along the way?  If there's a
nondiscriminatory reason for what it has done,
then under the burden shifting test and as
announced by Judge Chasanow and Williams, the
burden shifts back to them to demonstrate that
there was or that there was discriminatory
intent and that the nondiscriminatory
suggestion or offer advanced is a pretext.
They have not done that.  It's their burden in
this case.  It's not our burden accept under
Williams.  Once they have demonstrated a prima
facia case, the burden does shift to us to
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claim.  That's what they made clear on the
first day of trial.  The September 18, 2019
meeting and the issues that take place at that
moment in time, Mr. Marks thought she was
recording based on the record, based on what
Miss Katzman testified to.  Ms. Katzman says
she was not recording.  What we know from both
the Maryland Civil Rights Commission Report
and from Mr. Frager's email is that electronic
devices are available to be used to record or
to take notes at meetings, not to record.  And
Mr. Frager specifically says to the
investigator in the Maryland Civil Rights
Commission complaint that the problem
arises -- has no objection to her using a
computer to take notes.  The problem arises
when she uses her computer to record and then
posts that on public websites.  That's what he
said to the investigator and that's consistent
with everything that Leisure World has
presented in its evidence from its side of
the equation here.  It's also consistent with
what Ms. Katzman testified to on cross that
she did record things.  She's been recording
for a long period of time.  She uses, she
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prove that we did so or whatever actions we
took had a nondiscriminatory basis.  That's
what all this is.  That's what all of this is
starting in 2011, moving through 2018 and the
CCOC documentation.  Moving through the 2018
MCCR decision.  Moving into the 2022 decision
and now we're talking about the January 31,
2023 policy clarification.  The testimony was
and it's unrebutted.  It's unopposed.  It is
what it is.  That in October of 2022, the
executive officers decided we need some
clarity on what this policy is all about.  We
don't -- we have people in person and people
online in these hybrid meeting situations.
The people in person are not clicking the
button as Dr. Hemstead said to acknowledge
that they're being recorded.  It's setting up
some confusion and some uncertainty as to how
this is to apply.  Chairmans of committees
were also, as Dr. Hemstead testified, raising
questions about how do we implement this
policy in this new and changing environment?
And the decision was made in 2022 that we
would not have recordings.  Leisure World
would just stop all recordings.  That was the
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decision.  The testimony from both Miss Trohan
and Dr. Hemstead was that that decision was
made in the absence of any consideration of
Ms. Katzman's action.  That was not what
brought that about.  Okay?  Dr. Hemstead said,
I was generally or something had been notified
about that there was something out there
involving Miss Katzman, but the decision to
move forward with this policy, what they claim
is retaliation, had nothing to do with Miss
Katzman, then we learn, 'cause in December of
'22, I think, of 2022, OZAH issues its
scheduling order and its notice that it has
taken this case.  And so by the time we get
into January of 2023, Dr. Hemstead
acknowledges, at that point in time, we know
Ms. Katzman's action is pending, and she said
the executives -- and at that point in the
executive committee, considered the optics.
Considered the view that it would have if they
were to move forward with this policy change
or clarification at that point in time, and
the decision was made that it was more
important to comply with legal Counsel's
advice, CCOC advice and other positions on
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       Now, a few other comments.  So we know
from the historical documents that Leisure
World has had some sort of a policy in place
with respect to recording of meetings going
all the way back to 2011.  That's been there.
So when you look at what we did in response to
what Miss Katzman requested, there is also a
nondiscriminatory, nonretaliatory reason for
the decision of the -- assuming it was a
decision to deny her recording at some point
in 2019, and that was our policy says we can't
do this unless people give consent and people
were not giving consent.  So that's where it
was.  There's no evidence that we took the
decision to say no to recording merely because
we didn't like her or merely because we wanted
to be mean to her or do something retaliatory
to her.  It's not retaliatory.  The evidence
demonstrates all along the way.  We were
following our policies, following CCOC
guidance, and they believed following the law.
That also comes out in Drymalski's email
exchange with Marian Altman from 2011 where
Mr. Drymalski from CCOC says it's the Maryland
Wiretap Act.  That's the law that tripped
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this and for clarity and uniformity of
application of the policy to make the change,
even if it created some optic that it had been
done in connection with Ms. Katzman's action.
There was no evidence offered to respond to
any of that.  All of that is in and all of
that is undisputed.  Your Honor still has to
give it the weight that it's due, but there's
nothing contradicting any of that.  Under the
burden shifting concept in McDonald Douglas, I
believe Leisure World has more than adequately
demonstrated a nondiscriminatory,
nonretaliated reason for all of the things
that it did, especially the January 31, 2023
policy clarification, such that if they wanted
to demonstrate that we were pretextual, if
they wanted to demonstrate that we didn't
actually have this genuine reason,
nondiscriminatory reason for what we did,
nonretaliatory reason for what we did, they
needed to come forward with evidence to that
effect.  They have not.  The burden shifting
concept of McDonald -- of McDonald Douglas,
that's the end and judgment should be entered
in favor of Leisure World on this claim.
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Tripp from the Linda Tripp, Monica Lewinsky,
Bill Clinton scandal and all of that stuff.
My purpose in going through all this detail
with your Honor is to ask you to put yourself
in their shoes.  Okay?  If you are Leisure
World and you are from 2011 being told by
CCOC, it's the law that tripped Tripp and if
you are being told in 2018 by CCOC or actually
in 2013 by your attorneys that this is against
the law to do this, you really shouldn't be
recording, and then in 2018, CCOC says, don't
do this.  This could be unlawful.  You
shouldn't be recording things, and you have a
right -- CCOC says you have a right not
record, how is it that there's evidence of
retaliation when we complied with all of those
guidance points.  How is it retaliatory?  And
so put yourself in their shoes.  With all of
that information in your hands, that's what
you're being told by all these different
professionals and governing bodies, why in the
world would you go against it?  And, again,
they have the ability to say, yeah, that's all
a pretext.  Yeah, they're saying all that, but
don't listen to them, your Honor.  Don't
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believe them because really what was going on
was this and they didn't come forward with
anything in that respect.  They didn't come
forward with any evidence, they didn't present
any evidence, that all of those reasons why we
didn't give her this reasonable accommodation
was merely pretextual and that there was a
discriminatory basis behind what we were
doing.
       The last comment I'll make is in --
well, maybe not the last comment.  Never
believe a lawyer when they say that, but under
the Williams case, Judge Chasanow specifically
says that -- and I'll just read it because I
don't want to misquote it because what Judge
Chasanow says is intriguing.  In Williams --
and it's going to take me a moment to get
there.  Okay.  This is on 2021 US District
Lexis 103488 star page 34 and spilling onto
35.  What Justice -- Judge Chasanow says is,
in fact, Plaintiff even attempted to use the
threat of filing of such complaints as
leverage to deter Aurora from continuing to
find the property, as evidenced by her
statements to Mr. Eckloft so on and so forth.
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on the topic.
       The last thing that I will say is, Miss
Katzman also testified on cross that the
damages and the treatment she has received has
roughly been the same throughout her entire
time at Leisure World.  Well, if it's roughly
been the same, then there hasn't been any
retaliation because she's being treated the
same now as the way she was being treated
then.  I asked one too many questions, which
attorneys do all the time and it's a mistake
and you try to learn from it, but you still
make the mistake from time to time, and then
she said, it got worse.  Okay?  She tagged
that on at the end when I was saying, well,
did it improve and she said, no, it actually
got worse.  Okay, but her original testimony
was, throughout, this is how I have been
treated at Leisure World.  That's not
retaliation.  It can't be.  It's the same
treatment that she's received the entire time
that she's been there and that's not
retaliation.  It's the same treatment.  For
all of these reasons, we submit that this
claim fails, evidentiary wise, to either

170
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Okay.  Thus, rather than being deterred or
dissuaded from filing complaints, the alleged
adverse actions actually seemed to encourage
Plaintiff to lodge her complaints.  Just as
Plaintiff was not deterred from standing her
ground, I think we would all agree that Miss
Katzman has stood her ground and pursuing
multiple complaints against Aurora, the Court
is not persuaded that Aurora's actions would
dissuade any other reasonable person from
making or supporting a charge of
discrimination.  Because Plaintiff has not met
her burden of satisfying the adverse action
requirement of a retaliation claim under the
FHA, Defendant is also entitled to summary
judgment on count one.  Miss Katzman
acknowledged in cross-examination by my
questions that she never was dissuaded from
doing what she thought she was right to do,
what she was entitled to do.  She pursued and
maintained all avenues of actions that she
believed she could take.  Williams says, if
you do that, then it's not a retaliation
issue.  It's just not.  It's not an adverse
action.  That's what Judge Chasanow has to say
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establish any of the four or most of the four
elements under the retaliation standard,
especially the causal connection one, but in
addition the notice or acknowledgment or
knowledge by the Defendant on certain of the
dates, depending on the timeline, and also
that because she was able to continue to make
whatever actions she believed were right,
there was no dissuading or deterring under
Williams, that means she also similarly has a
claim that fails, and last, because the
treatment of her throughout this time period
was the same.  That it hasn't been anything
changed that she cannot maintain an action for
retaliation.  There hasn't -- hasn't been any.
It's up to your Honor to decide the facts in
this case.  That's your job and there's a lot,
I guess, to pursue or parse through here in
this past two days, but from our submission of
it, the Plaintiff does not or the Claimant
does not make her burden of proof on these
items, especially when viewed under the
McDonald Douglas shifting of the burden back
to them to demonstrate our stated reasons are
merely pretextual.  I don't think they gave
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you anything that you can hang your hat on
evidence wise to show that it was just
pretextual, but you will ultimately make that
decision.
       Unless your Honor has a specific
question from me that you'd like me to
address, that was all I intended to say.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I'm good.  Thank
you.
              MR. WEBSTER:  Thank you.
              JUDGE BYRNE:  I want to think
the parties, I want to think the attorneys.
              MR. SHARDELOW:  Your Honor, do
we get a chance for a quick rebuttal?
              JUDGE BYRNE:  It's closing, so
that's -- the rebuttal would come with the
testimony.  So you've made your legal
arguments.  He's made his legal arguments.
So, no, on the -- no, on the closing.  Okay.
All right.  I appreciate the effort, though.
It's always good to ask.  I think in some
forms you would, but in this particular
instance, closing closing.  Okay.  I
appreciate it.
       Again, I want to thank the parties.  A
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transcript.  So we ask for the transcript.  It
takes approximately 10 days to come back to
us, so no other documents will come in.  A
decision will be rendered within 45 days of
when the record finally closes.  So it's 45
plus 10 essentially from today.  I'll do my
best to try to get it out as quickly as I can.
Things -- I'll have the original report and
recommendation on the reasonable accommodation
will be part and parcel of it, as well as the
-- my decision on the motion to dismiss will
be part and parcel of that report and
recommendation.  That will go back to the HRC.
As I said at the beginning, I'm just -- I'm
the heavy lifter here, right?  So I'm the
person that's going through all of this.  The
HRC can make a determination as to whether
they adopt a whole, in part or none of my
report and recommendation.  So, again, thank
you all.  And as soon as -- I'm making an
assumption everybody would like a copy of the
transcript.  All right.  So as soon as it
comes in, I'll ask Nana to forward it to the
attorneys for both parties.  All right.  Thank
you, all.  Everybody have a great day.  Thank
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good job really by everyone.  Witnesses were
good.  I think one thing that I've come away
from this hearing is that people love Leisure
World.  Miss Katzman clearly has a passion for
it.  The other witness is Mr. Dunn.  All of
the witnesses, you love where you live, you're
passionate about your community, and you don't
always hear that or find that.  So I
appreciate that and I appreciate the effort
and time that everyone put into this.  An
excellent job for you all.  It's good to get
real experience.  And this is -- it's in the
administrative form, it's a little looser, so
it's nice to practice and use that exercise.
The rules of evidence aren't so close.  And
while it's formal, it's still informal.  So
excellent job all around and I appreciate
everyone's efforts and time.  And thank you
all for being here.
       All right.  So what do we do next?
Well, what we have is the hearing is
concluded.  I'm going to close the record as
of today.  So all documents in are in the
record.  I'm going to open it -- well, I'm
going to keep it open for 10 days only for the
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you.
              (Concluded 2:13 p.m.)
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       CERTIFICATE OF TRANSCRIBER
 
       I, Cynthia Bauerle, do hereby certify
that this transcript was prepared from the
digital audio recording of the foregoing
proceeding; that said transcript is a true and
accurate record of the proceedings to the best
of my knowledge, skills, and ability; and that
I am neither counsel for, related to, nor
employed by any of the parties to the case and
have no interest, financial or otherwise, in
its outcome.
 
 

_____________________________
CYNTHIA BAUERLE, CSR
3/2/24
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CERTIFICATE OF COURT REPORTER-NOTARY PUBLIC
       I, Brendon Cuenca, the officer before
whom the foregoing proceedings were taken, do
hereby certify that any witness(es) in the
foregoing proceedings were fully sworn; that
the proceedings were recorded by me and
thereafter reduced to typewriting by a
qualified transcriptionist; that said digital
audio recording of said proceedings are a true
and accurate record to the best of my
knowledge, skills, and ability; and that I am
neither counsel for, related to, nor employed
by any of the parties to this case and have no
interest, financial or otherwise, in its
outcome.
 
 

______________________________________
Brendon Cuenca,
NOTARY PUBLIC FOR THE STATE OF MARYLAND
2/26/2024
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